Mr S Hearse
Chief Executive
Torridge District Council
Riverbank House
Bideford
Devon
EX39 2QG
DX 53606 BIDEFORD
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700
Date:

21 January 2022

FULL COUNCIL MEETING
On:

Monday 31 January 2022

At:

Venue:

Caddsdown Business Support Centre, Clovelly Road, Bideford - Bideford

6.30 pm

From the 7 May 2021, the law requires all councils to hold formal meetings in person. The Council is
also required to follow Government guidance and ensure that all venues used are Covid secure and
that all appropriate measures are put in place. Members of the public will be able to attend the
meeting in person if they are registered to speak under public participation. Any members of the
public who want to view the meeting will be able to watch through the Councils YouTube Channel
https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube

NOTICE OF MEETING
You are hereby summoned to the Meeting of the District Council at the aforementioned date and time

Chief Executive

To:

Councillor D Bushby (Chair)
Councillor P Christie (Vice-Chair)
Councillors: R Boughton, D Brenton, C Bright, M Brown, R Clarke, C CottleHunkin, R Craigie, A Dart, L Ford, J Gubb, P Hackett, P Hames, S Harding,
C Hawkins, K Hepple, R Hicks, C Hodson, D Hurley, J Hutchings, T Inch,
K James, D Jones, S Langford, N Laws, C Leather, R Lock, J Manley,
D McGeough, J McKenzie, S Newton, P Pennington, P Watson, R Wiseman
and C Woodhouse

Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the meeting

AGENDA
PART I - (OPEN SESSION)
1.

Apologies For Absence
To receive apologies for absence from the meeting

2.

Council Minutes (Pages 4 - 12)
Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Council held on 13th December
2021.

3.

Public Contributions
15 minute period for public contributions. The deadline for registering to speak is by
2pm Thursday 27 January 2022. To register please email
dem.services@torridge.gov.uk

4.

Declarations of interest
Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the
nature of their interest when the item is being discussed.

5.

Agreement of Agenda Items Part I and II

6.

To consider correspondence or other business especially brought forward by
the direction of the Chair

7.

To answer questions submitted under Procedural Rule A9

8.

One Northern Devon Presentation
To receive a presentation from One Northern Devon

9.

Gambling Act - Statement of Principles (Pages 13 - 53)
To receive the report of the Public Health & Housing Manager.

10. Devon Carbon Plan (Pages 54 - 77)
To receive the report of the Public Health & Housing Manager.
11. Housing Provision - Update report (Pages 78 - 80)
To receive an update from the Leader and Chief Executive
12. Constitution Update (Pages 81 - 102)
To receive an update from the Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring Officer)
13. Appointment of External Auditors (Pages 103 - 110)
To receive the report of the Finance Manager (S151 Officer)

14. Appledore Fish Dock Ice Machine (Pages 111 - 113)
To receive the report of the Head of Communities & Place
15. Pay Policy (Pages 114 - 119)
To receive the report of the Communications & HR Manager.
16. Update - Lead Member
To receive the report of the Leader – To follow
17. Petitions
To receive petitions (if any)
18. Notices of Motion
(a)

Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Brenton
Notice says that TDC produces a report to go to O&S External with answers to the
following questions:1) How many incidents of permitted discharging of sewage into Torridge River
have taken place in the last 12 months?
2) What has been the response of the E.A?
3) What has been the bathing water qualities for the last 12 months?
4) What are the stats for shellfish qualities?
Councillor D Brenton
3 December 2021

19. Exclusion of Public
The Chair to move:
“That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act 1972”
20. PART II - (CLOSED SESSION)
Items which may be taken in the absence of the public and press on the grounds that
exempt information may be disclosed.
21. Recommendations from Standards Committee - 5th January 2022 (Pages 120 124)
To receive the report of the Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring Officer)
Meeting Organiser: Democratic Services

Agenda Item 2
1

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL
FULL COUNCIL MEETING
Caddsdown Business Support Centre, Clovelly Road, Bideford
Monday, 13 December 2021 - 6.30 pm
PRESENT

Councillor D Bushby (Chair)
Councillor P Christie (Vice-Chair)
Councillors R Boughton, C Bright, R Clarke, C Cottle-Hunkin,
R Craigie, A Dart, L Ford, J Gubb, P Hames, S Harding,
C Hawkins, K Hepple, R Hicks, C Hodson, D Hurley, J Hutchings,
T Inch, K James, D Jones, S Langford, N Laws, C Leather,
J Manley, D McGeough, J McKenzie, S Newton and R Wiseman

ALSO PRESENT

S Hearse
S Dorey
S Kearney
D Heyes
A Redwood
R Haste
T Vanstone
K Brown
S Cawsey

265.

- Chief Executive
- Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring
Officer)
- Head of Communities & Place
- Finance Manager (Section 151 Officer)
- Major Projects & Estates Manager
- Operational Services Manager
- Senior Electoral & Democratic Services
Officer
- Democratic Services Officer
- Democratic Services Officer

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors: R Lock, M Brown,
P Watson, P Hackett, P Pennington and D Brenton.

266.

COUNCIL MINUTES
Prior to the presentation of the minutes, Councillor Ford addressed the meeting
stating he did not agree to the signing-off of the minutes because comments he had
made during the update given by the Superintendent had been omitted.
It was proposed by Councillor Bushby, seconded by Councillor Inch and Resolved: That the minutes of the meeting held on 1 November 2021 be
confirmed as a correct record.
(Vote: For 28, Against 1)
Councillor Ford asked that it be noted he had voted against the motion.

Page 4

2

267.

ACTION LIST
The Action List was reviewed.
Minute No 252 – An email had been received from Councillor Pennington which will
be circulated to all Members. Action now complete.

268.

PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS
There were no public contributions.

269.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members were reminded that declarations of interest should be made as and when
the specific agenda item to which they related was under discussion.

270.

AGREEMENT OF AGENDA ITEMS PART I AND II
It was proposed by Councillor Bushby, seconded by Councillor James and Resolved: That the agenda as circulated be agreed.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

271.

TO CONSIDER CORRESPONDENCE OR OTHER BUSINESS ESPECIALLY
BROUGHT FORWARD BY THE DIRECTION OF THE CHAIR
The following matters were raised by the Chair:
Christmas Raffle – any Member wishing to contribute please contact Councillor
Hodson.
The Chair thanked all members of staff for the tremendous work they had carried
out in difficult circumstances during the year.

272.

TO ANSWER QUESTIONS SUBMITTED UNDER PROCEDURAL RULE A9
Questions had been submitted by Councillors Ford and Christie under Procedural
Rule A9.
In accordance with the Constitution a written answer to each of the questions had
been circulated to Members.

Question from Councillor Ford
Is the Council aware of the concept of “wilful blindness”? Can clarity be given on
the definition of “wilful blindness”. Should Senior Public Servants be guilty of this,
it could have serious consequences.

Page 5

3

Answer
This is a question directed to Council, which comprises the 36 Elected members
therefore officers have not at this stage prepared an answer.

The Chair read to Members the question submitted by Councillor Ford. The
question and response were noted.
Question from Councillor Christie
a) Have quotes been sought for the work needed to strengthen the riverbank
wall at Brunswick Wharf and if so what are they?
b) In the event that the recently won government grant is not enough to cover
the work who will pay the additional cost?
Answer
a) Members will be aware that this area of work is the responsibility of the
developer Red Earth therefore Cllr Christie could if wish direct his question
to the developer.
b) That again is a matter for the developer to consider as the Council has no
requirement to cover any additional costs should they arise.
The Chair read to Members the question submitted by Councillor Christie.
Following a supplementary question asked by Councillor Christie in relation to the
Grant funding, the Head of Communities & Place explained that the only monies to
be drawn down would be what the Developer had spent.
The question and response were noted.
273.

MID-YEAR REVIEW OF TREASURY MANAGEMENT
The Finance Manager & S151 Officer presented the report, the purpose of which
was to report the Treasury Management activity in the year to date.
Following a brief discussion Members noted the report.

274.

COUNCIL TAX BASE 2022/23
The purpose of the report, presented by the Finance Manager & Section 151
Officer, was for approval to set the Council Tax baseline for 2022/23.
It was proposed by Councillor Hodson, seconded by Councillor Manley and –
Resolved:

Page 6

4

That the Council Tax Base for 2022/23 be agreed.
(Vote: For 28, Abstention 1) - Councillor Ford abstained from voting as he had left
the room during the presentation.
275.

LOCALISATION OF COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT
The report was presented by the Head of Legal and Governance who explained the
reasons as to why Members were being asked to roll over the scheme to 2022/23.
The Revenue & Benefits Team have had a significant amount of additional work
this year. They have paid out £51m in Business Support Grants, in addition they
have had the Test and Trace scheme and an increase in the number of people
applying for Universal Credit. All these factors impact on the benefit system.
It was proposed by Councillor Bushby, seconded by Councillor Newton and –
Resolved:


That the 2021/22 Scheme and Exceptional Hardship Scheme be rolled over
to 2022/23.



That the Working Group reconvene with a view to working towards and
introducing an income banded scheme which would be developed and
presented to Council in 2022. This will be dependent on the continuing
impact of the Coronavirus pandemic and resource permitting.

(Vote: For 28, Abstentions 1)

276.

GROUNDS MAINTENANCE - CAPITAL
The Finance Manager and S151 Officer presented the report, the purpose of which
was for Members to approve the addition to the Council’s capital programme
vehicles and equipment pertaining to bringing back in house the grounds
maintenance function.
During the discussion Councillor Hames proposed the following amendments to the
wording in the report and to add them as recommendations:
Under the heading Climate Change –
First paragraph to change the word “may” to “will”
Second paragraph – to add “where possible give priority to battery powered
machines”.
It was proposed by Councillor Hames, seconded by Councillor Cottle-Hunkin and –
Resolved:

Page 7

5

That the above amendments be agreed.
(Vote: For 26, Against 2, Abstentions 1)
It was proposed by Councillor Bushby, seconded by Councillor Inch and –
Resolved:
That £173k is added to the Council’s approved capital programme for Grounds
Maintenance and vehicles as detailed in the report.
That the above amendments to the report be agreed.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)
277.

ACTIVE TORRIDGE - STRATEGY AIMS
Members noted the report presented by the Chief Executive, which outlined the
Strategic Aims of Active Torridge in pursuance of the Strategic Objectives as set
out by Torridge District Council on 1 November 2021.

278.

PETITIONS
There were no petitions.

279.

NOTICES OF MOTION
There were no notices of motion.
(a)

Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Ford
“Regarding minutes of any meeting where appropriate and where it
can be confirmed, a Councillor who is not happy with the draft
minutes should be able to speak to the person who took the minutes
and raise with them in a civilised and courtesy manner their concerns
and for salient omissions to be included in the final version”.

Councillor Ford presented his Notice of Motion and referred to his
comments made under Agenda item 2 when he expressed his
dissatisfaction with the accuracy of the minutes. He said he had
spoken to the Officer concerned in a courtesy manner and had asked
for the minutes be amended. The Head of Legal & Governance had
confirmed to Councillor Ford that minutes of Committee meetings are
not verbatim. Councillor Ford said he was aware of this and
questioned why Officers did not want accurate minutes.
Following comments from Members who asked what they would be
voting for as the above was just a statement, the Chief Executive
explained Councillor Ford was asking for the opportunity to speak to

Page 8

6

Democratic Services after the draft minutes have been sent out and
for amendments to be made in advance of the minutes being formally
approved at the next meeting.
Councillor Christie said he believed that Councillors should speak to
the Chair as it is the chair who signs off the draft minutes.
It was proposed by Councillor Ford, seconded by Councillor Hawkins
that the Notice of Motion be agreed.
(Vote: For 3, Against 21, Abstentions 5)
The motion was lost.
Any concerns with minutes in the future to go through the Chair.

Councillor Ford left the meeting at 19.15.
(b)

Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Bushby
“We are all aware of the extreme pressures currently being put on our
emergency services which effects the communities and residents of
Torridge. I therefore propose that Torridge District Council writes to
South Western Ambulance Service, the MP for Torridge and West
Devon and the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care to
express our concerns on the delay in response times from 999 calls
and the potential impact this has on the health and wellbeing of our
residents”.
Councillor Bushby presented his Notice of Motion and gave details of
two occasions recently when he had the need to dial 999. On both
occasions he got an automated message and was then compelled to
ring the police. The police arrived within four minutes and an
ambulance was then sent. There were concerns with regard to
critical timescales for stroke victims.
Councillor Bushby stated it is not a direct criticism of the ambulance
service, but clearly there is an issue that needs addressing.
Members gave examples of times when they also had to dial 999 and
had received the same response, having to wait on some occasions
hours for an ambulance to arrive.
Councillor Newton recommended that local context is included in the
letter and to use local response times.
It was proposed by Councillor Bushby, seconded by Councillor
Christie and –

Page 9

7

Resolved:
That the Notice of Motion be agreed and for local context to be
included in the letter.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

(c)

Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Brenton
“Notice says that TDC produces a report to go to O&S External with
answers to the following questions:1) How many incidents of permitted surcharging of sewage into
Torridge River have taken place in the last 12 months?
2) What has been the response of the E.A?
3) What has been the bathing water qualities for the last 12
months?
4) What are the stats for shellfish qualities?”
At the request, and in the absence of Councillor Brenton, Councillor
Bushby proposed that the Notice of Motion be deferred until the next
meeting. Councillor Christie seconded the motion to defer.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

280.

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC
It was proposed by Councillor Bushby, seconded by Councillor Newton and Resolved:
That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act (as amended) the public
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business because of the
likely disclosure of exempt information by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 and
Paragraph 10 of Part 2 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

281.

PART II - (CLOSED SESSION)

282.

LEISURE MANAGEMENT UPDATE - 5 YEAR BUSINESS PLAN
The Finance Manager & S151 Officer gave a slide presentation updating Members
on the 5 year Business Plan and financial costs pertaining to the delivery of leisure
services via a Loal Authority Owner Trading Company (LATC).

Page 10

8

Following discussion, it was proposed by Councillor James, seconded by Councillor
Cottle-Hunkin and –
Resolved:
That the recommendations set out in the report be approved.
(Vote: For 23, Abstentions 5)
283.

LEISURE MANAGEMENT UPDATE - LEISURE SERVICES SPECIFICATION
The Head of Legal and Governance presented the report, the purpose of which
was to obtain a decision from Members regarding the Services Specification an
Leisure Contract regarding the delivery of leisure services between TDC and a
Local Authority Owned Trading Company (LATC).
It was proposed by Councillor James, seconded by Councillor Jones and –
Resolved:


That the recommendations as set out in the report be approved.



That the recommendations in the S151 Officers report for Active Torridge be
noted and to report back to Full Council with wider options in September
2022.

(Vote: For – Unanimous)

Councillors Cottle-Hunkin and Hames left the meeting at 20.15.
284.

BIDEFORD BUSINESS PARK LAND AQUISITION
The report, presented by the Property Manager, updated Members on the progress
with the acquisition of land at Bideford Business Park and the status of the
opportunity to acquire additional land for future development on the site and the
implications for the project. The report also sought Member approval for the
variation in the original requirement for a BREEAM rating for the project in favour of
more relevant carbon reduction measures.
Councillor Hicks addressed the meeting giving his support for the project and
highlighting the importance of approving the recommendations outlined in the
report.
The following additional recommendation was proposed by Councillor Christie,
seconded by Councillor Clarke and –
Resolved:

Page 11

9

“That we instruct our Officers to go back to the County Council and ask that some
of the monies being collected for the Heywood Road roundabout scheme be
switched to pay for necessary roadworks at the new Environment Centre”.
(Vote: For 23, Against 1, Abstentions 2)
It was proposed by Councillor Hicks, seconded by Councillor Leather and Resolved:
That the recommendations as set out in the report and the additional
recommendation detailed above, be approved.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 (AS AMENDED)
It was proposed by Councillor Bushby, seconded by Councillor Newton and Resolved:
That the press and public be readmitted.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

The meeting commenced at 6.30pm and closed at 8.40pm

Page 12

Agenda Item 9
Agenda Item
REPORT OF

PUBLIC HEALTH AND HOUSING MANAGER

To:

FULL COUNCIL

Subject:

GAMBLING ACT – STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES

Date:

30 JANUARY 2022

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
To present the Authority’s revised Statement of Principles published under s.349 of the
Gambling Act 2005 for formal adoption

1.

INTRODUCTION

Section 349(1) of the Gambling Act requires licensing authorities to ‘prepare a statement of the
principles that they propose to apply in exercising its functions under the Act’.
Section 349(2) of the Act requires the licensing authority to review the statement at least every three
years, revise it if necessary and to publish any revision. Regulations require that any revision to the
Statement of Principles must be published at least four weeks before the revised Statement comes
into effect.

2.

REPORT

The current Statement of Principles will expire on 30th January 2022.
A revised Statement of Principles has been reviewed and updated in line with the latest guidance and
is provided in the Appendix.
A consultation on this statement has been carried out in accordance with the requirements of the
Gambling Act and there have been no objections or other representations.
The Licensing Committee will review the policy at the next Committee on 26th January 2022.
The revised statement requires formal adoption by Full Council and publication.

3.

IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
By consulting on the revised Statement of Principles, the Authority has complied with the legal
requirements of s.349 of the Act. The Statement must, however, be formally adopted by full Council
and then published in accordance with regulations.
Financial Implications
None

Page 13

Human Resources Implications
None
Sustainability Implications
None
Equality/Diversity
None
Risk Management
There are legal, reputational and possible financial risks if the Council does not maintain a Statement
of Principles which reflects current legislation and the latest guidance issued by the Gambling
Commission.
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
All regulatory activity will be carried out in accordance with current policy and procedures.
Data Protection (GDPR) Implications
None
Climate Change
None
Lead Member Views
The Lead member for Licensing has reviewed the policy as part of the Licensing Committee.

4.

CONCLUSIONS

The Statement of Principles sets out the Authority’s approach to the regulation of gambling in its area
and the standards it will apply in relation to licensed premises, permits and regis trations. The
proposed revisions to the current Policy are designed to keep it up to date, relevant, robust and to
reflect evolving guidance from the Gambling Commission since the last review in 2018.

5.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the revised Statement of Principles be formally adopted.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Consultations: In accordance with the schedule agreed by Licensing Committee
Contact:
Chris Parkhouse
Supporting papers: Licensing data area/files

Page 14

GAMBLING ACT 2005
Statement of Principles
For the period 31st January 201922 to 30th January 202225

Environmental Health and
Community Safety

Version
Approved: Licensing Committee
Approved: Full Council

4.12
12 September 2018TBC
10 December 2018TBC

Page
15
1

Date
Next Review Date

September 201821
September 202124

Table of Contents
Item

Page

Part A – General Principles
1. Introduction
2. Licensing Objectives
3. Description of the Licensing Authority Area
4. Consultation
5. Declaration
6. The Overriding Principle
7. Responsible Authorities
8. Interested Parties
9. Exchange of Information
10. Enforcement
11. Licensing Authority Functions
12. The Licensing Process
13. Administration, Exercise and Delegation
14. Local Risk Assessments

3
3
4
5
5
5
6
6
7
7
8
9
10
11

Part B – Premises Licences
1. General Principles: Consideration of Applications
2. Adult Gaming Centres
3. Licensed Family Entertainment Centres
4. Casinos
5. Bingo
6. Betting Premises
7. Tracks
8. Vessels
9. Travelling Fairs
10. Provisional Statements
11. Reviews

13
18
19
19
20
20
20
22
22
22
23

Part C – Permits, Registrations and Notices
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits
(Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machines
Prize Gaming Permits
Club Gaming & Club Machine Permits
Temporary Use Notices
Occasional Use Notices
Small Society Lotteries
Exemptions

25
28
29
32
34
34
35
35

Appendix A – Glossary
Appendix B – Child Sexual Exploitation and trafficking of children
and young people

37
38

Page2 16

Part A – General Principles

1

Introduction

1.1

Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires licensing authorities to publish a licensing
policy (the ‘statement of the principles’) which they propose to apply when exercising their
functions under the Act. This statement must be published at least every three years. The
statement must also be reviewed from time to time and any amended parts re-consulted
upon. The statement must then be re-published.

1.2

This Statement of Principles has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the
Gambling Act 2005 and the Guidance issued under s.25 of the Act by the Gambling
Commission. It sets out the principles this Licensing Authority will adopt in relation to
applications for licences/permits and on enforcement of the law, regulations and licence
conditions.

1.3

The Statement takes effect on 31 January 2019.22

1.4

All references in this document to ‘’The Act’ are to The Gambling Act 2005.

1.5

The Licensing Authority wishes to make clear that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to
Local Authorities (6th Edition – April 2021) was the most recent information available at the
time of writing and can be subject of change within the period that this statement of
principles is in force.

1.6

Legislation may change over time and the advice given is based on the information
available at the time the guidance was produced – it is not exhaustive and is subject to
revision in light of further information. Only the courts can interpret statutory legislation with
any authority and this advice is not intended to be definitive guidance nor a substitute for
the relevant law and independent legal advice should be sought where appropriate

2

The Licensing Objectives
The Licensing Authority has a duty under the Gambling Act 2005 to carry out its licensing
functions in a manner which is consistent with three licensing objectives. The licensing
objectives are:
•

preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with
crime or disorder, or being used to support crime

•

ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way, and

•

protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by
gambling

These objectives will inform and underpin the way in which this Licensing Authority
discharges its licensing functions under the Act.

Page
17
3

3

The Licensing Authority Area

3.1

Torridge District Council is located within the north west of Devon and is predominantly
rural. The main towns are Bideford, Holsworthy and Great Torrington, with almost half of
the population living in or close to Bideford/Northam and the remainder of the area fairly
sparsely populated. The district is officially classified as ‘Rural 80’, with at least 80 per cent
of the population living in rural settlements and larger market towns. The district comprises
984 sq km (380 sq miles). The large majority of land in Torridge is classified as green
space, covering 95% (938 sq km) of the district’s total area.

3.2

The Office for National Statistics (ONS) provided a population estimate for Torridge in mid2016 18 of 66,977 68,143. (The 2011 census had a total population of 63,839, showing a
5%6.7% increase in the Torridge population over the past 57 years). In 20168 the largest
age group in the UK is the 25-44 age group with 26.31% of the national population - this
age group accounts for just 19.2% of the Torridge population. Over the past 14 years the
number of people in Torridge in receipt of state pension has increased from 14,040 to
18,440, an increase of 31.3%.

3.3

Torridge has the second lowest average weekly earnings of any district in the UK. The
average (gross) weekly earnings in Torridge are £357.50. This is £75.80 (17%) below the
average for Devon, and £181.20 (34%) below the National average. The unemployment
rate in Torridge (October 2017) is 3.6%, compared to a South West rate of 3.7% and a
national rate of 4.6%.

3.4

Gambling premises within Torridge (February 2018 October 2021) consist of 3 licensed
betting shops in Bideford, 4 licensed amusement arcades in Westward Ho!, a bingo
premises and unlicensed family entertainment centre in Bucks Cross.

Page4 18

4

Consultation

4.1

The Act requires Licensing Authorities to consult the following parties on their Statement of
Principles:
•
•
•

4.2

This authority has consulted the following organisations:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

4.2

The Chief Officer of Police;
One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons
carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area;
One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons
who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s functions under the
Gambling Act 2005.

All responsible authorities
Association of British Bookmakers
British Amusement Catering Trade Association
North Devon and Torridge Community Safety Partnership
Gamblers Anonymous
Gamcare
Local Chambers of Commerce
Local residents or their representatives
Mencap
Representatives of existing licence-holders
Voluntary organisations working with children & young people

Proper weight has been given to the views of all those who have been consulted prior to
the date of implementation of the Statement of Principles.
Our consultation took place between 1 June 2018 and 31 August 2018 TBC and we have
followed the Cabinet Office guidance on public consultations

4.4

This Statement of Principles was approved at a meeting of the full Council on 10 December
2018 TDC and published on the website on 17 December 2018.
If you wish to comment on this Statement of Principles please write to the Licensing Team,
Torridge District Council, Riverbank House, Bideford, Devon EX39 2QG or email
licensing@torridge.gov.uk

5

Declaration
In producing the final Statement of Principles, this Licensing Authority declares that it has
had regard to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the guidance issued by the
Gambling Commission and any responses from those consulted on the Statement.

6

The Overriding Principle

6.1

In exercising its functions under the Act, this Licensing Authority will aim to permit the use
of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it is
•
•

in accordance with the Act and associated legislation;
in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice under section 24 of the Act;

Page
19
5

•
•
•

in accordance with the relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission under
section 25 of the Act;
reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives
in accordance with this Statement of Principles.

6.2

Each application will be decided on its merits.

6.3

In deciding whether or not to grant a licence, this authority will not have regard to the
expected demand for the facilities that are the subject of the application.

7

Responsible Authorities

7.1

Responsible authorities are those public bodies specified in the Act, which must be notified
of applications for premises licences. Such bodies are entitled to make representations to
the Licensing Authority in relation to the applications and to apply for a review of an existing
licence. The Responsible Authorities for Torridge District are detailed on the Council’s
website.

7.2

The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in
exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in writing, a body which
is competent to advise the authority about the protection of children from harm. The
principles are:
• the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the
Licensing Authority’s area; and
• the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, rather
than any particular vested interest group.

7.3

In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for Licensing
Authorities, this Authority has designated the Local Safeguarding Children Board of Devon
County Council for this purpose.

8

Interested Parties

8.1

Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply for a
review of an existing licence. For the purposes of the Act, a person is an interested party in
relation to an application for a premises licence if, in the opinion of the Licensing Authority,
he/she
a)
b)
c)

8.2

lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised
activities,
has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or
represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)

The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in
exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine whether a person is an
interested party. The principles are:
•
Each case will be determined on an individual basis having regard to Commission
guidance. The Authority will not apply a rigid rule to its decision making. It will
consider the examples of considerations provided in the Gambling Commission’s
Guidance to Licensing Authorities.
•

Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as councillors
and MP’s. No specific evidence of being asked to represent an interested person will
be required as long as the councillor/MP represents the ward likely to be affected.
Likewise, parish councils likely to be affected, will be considered to be interested

Page6 20

parties. Other than these, however, this licensing authority will generally require written
evidence that a person/body (e.g. an advocate/relative) ‘represents’ someone who
either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised
activities and/or has business interests that might be affected by the authorised
activities. A letter from one of these persons, requesting the representation will
generally be sufficient.
8.3

If individuals wish to approach a councillor to ask them to represent their views then care
should be taken that the councillor does not sit on the Licensing Committee dealing with the
licence application as this might result in a potential conflict of interest. If there are any
doubts then please contact the Licensing Team, Torridge District Council, Riverbank
House, Bideford, Devon EX39 2QG or email licensing@torridge.gov.uk

9

Exchange of Information

9.1

This Licensing Authority will act in accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005
in its exchange of information which includes the provision that the Data Protection Act
2018 will not be contravened. This Licensing Authority will also have regard to any
Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to Licensing Authorities on this matter, as
well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the powers provided
in the Act.

9.2

Should any protocols be established as regards information exchange with other bodies
then they will be made available.

10

Enforcement

10.1

The main enforcement and compliance role for the licensing authority in terms of the
Gambling Act 2005 is to ensure compliance with the premises licences and other
permissions which it authorises.

10.2

The Gambling Commission is the enforcement body for operating and personal licences,
they also deal with concerns about manufacture, supply and repair of gaming machines.

10.3

This authority adopts a graduated approach to enforcement and when seeking to resolve or
address issues the general expectation of the authority is that operators promptly work
alongside the licensing authority in taking remedial action. However where a serious issue
is identified it is likely that the authority will immediately initiate some form of enforcement
action.

10.4

This Licensing Authority’s principles are that enforcement will be carried out:
•
•
•

10.5

in line with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities,
in accordance with the Regulators’ Code, and
in accordance with the Authority’s Corporate Enforcement Policy.

Enforcement will be:
•
•
•

proportionate - regulators should only intervene when necessary and remedies should
be appropriate to the risk posed and costs identified and minimised;
accountable - regulators must be able to justify decisions and be subject to public
scrutiny;
consistent - rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly;

Page
21
7

•

transparent - regulators should be open and keep regulations simple and user
friendly; and
targeted - regulation should be focused on the problem and minimise side effects.

•
10.6

In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for licensing authorities this
Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far
as possible.

10.7

This Licensing Authority has adopted a risk-based inspection programme based on:
•
•
•
•
•

The licensing objectives
Relevant codes of practice
Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular at Part 36
The principles set out in this statement of licensing policy
Any primary authority partnerships which are in place

10.8

In order to ensure that any compliance issues are recognised and resolved at the earliest
stage, operators are requested to give the authority a single named point of contact who
should be a senior individual and whom the authority will contact first should any
compliance issues arise.

11

Licensing Authority Functions

11.1

The Gambling Act 2005 provides for three categories of licence, namely Operating
Licences, Personal Licences and Premises Licences. Under the Act Torridge District
Council (“the Licensing Authority”) is responsible for the licensing of premises where
gambling activities are to take place by issuing Premises Licences for:
•
•
•
•
•

11.2

The Licensing Authority may also grant other forms of authorisation:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

11.3

casino premises
bingo premises
betting premises, including tracks
adult gaming centres (AGC); and
family entertainment centres (FEC).

authorisations for the temporary use of premises and occasional use notices
permits for unlicensed family entertainment centres (UFEC)
permits for prize gaming
permits for gaming machines on alcohol-licensed premises
permits for club gaming
permits for club gaming machines.
registrations for Small Society Lotteries

It should be noted that this Licensing Authority will not be involved in licensing remote
gambling. This is regulated by the Gambling Commission.

Page8 22

12

The Licensing Process

12.1

A Licensing Committee, a Sub-Committee, or a licensing officer acting under delegated
authority may carry out the powers of the Authority under the Act.

12.2

Many of the licensing procedures are largely administrative in nature. In the interests of
efficiency, non-contentious decisions will be made by licensing officers.

12.3

The Licensing Authority will ensure that all Licensing Officers and Members of the Licensing
Committee have received adequate training for their role under the Act.

12.4

Where admissible and relevant representations are received in relation to an application for
a premises licence, or in relation to the review of a premises licence, a Sub-Committee will
be convened to hear the matter.

12.5

Applicants for premises licences are required to send a copy of their application to the
Responsible Authorities as listed in Appendix A- on the Council’s website.

12.6

In order to discharge its licensing functions, this Licensing Authority has delegated its
statutory powers to its sub-Committees in accordance with s.154 of the Act and has
established its own procedures for licensing hearings under s.9 of the Licensing Act 2003.

Page
23
9

13

Administration, Exercise and Delegation
This Licensing Authority will delegate its licensing functions under the Act in accordance
with the table below. (X indicates the lowest level to which decisions can be delegated)

Matter to be dealt with

Full Council

Three year licensing
Statement of Principles

X

Policy not to permit casinos

X

Sub-committee of
licensing committee

Fee setting
(when appropriate)
Application for
premises licences
Application for a variation to
a licence
Application for a transfer of
a licence
Application for a provisional
statement
Review of a premises
licence
Application for club gaming/
club machine permits

Where representations
have been received
and not withdrawn
Where representations
have been received
and not withdrawn
Where representations
have been received
from the Commission
Where representations
have been received
and not withdrawn
X
Where objections have
been made (and not
withdrawn)

Cancellation of club
gaming/
club machine permits
Applications for other
permits

Licensing Officers

X (to be approved by the
Community and
Resources Committee)
Where no representations
received/representations
have been withdrawn
Where no representations
received/representations
have been withdrawn
Where no representations
received from the
Commission
Where no representations
received/representations
have been withdrawn

Where no objections
made/objections have
been withdrawn

X
X

Cancellation of licensed
premises gaming machine
permits
Consideration of temporary
use notice

X

X

Decision to give a counter
notice to a temporary use
notice

X

Table 1. Recommended Delegation of Licensing Functions (Gambling Act 2005, s.154;
Licensing Act 2003, s.10)

Page10 24

14

Local Risk Assessments

14.1

The Gambling Commission’s Social Responsibility Code (Licence Conditions and Codes of
Practice (LCCP) 10.1.1) requires operators to consider local risks. With effect from 6 April
2016, the Gambling Commission’s Social Responsibility Code’s required lLicensees are
required to assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the provision of
gambling facilities at each of their premises, and have policies, procedures and control
measures to mitigate those risks. In undertaking their risk assessments, licensees should
take into account any relevant matters identified in this policy statement.

14.2

Licensees are required to undertake local risk assessment when applying for a new
premises licence. Their risk assessment will also need to be updated:
•
•
•

When applying for a variation of a premises licence.
To take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including those identified
in this policy.
When there are significant changes at a licensee’s premise that may affect the level of
risk or the mitigation of those risks. This includes any changes to the interior layout of
the premises. Significant changes will require a variation to the premises licence.

14.3

The Social Responsibility Code provision is supplemented by an Ordinary Code that will
require licensees to share their risk assessments with the Licensing Authority when
applying for a premises licence or applying for a variation to existing licensed premises or
otherwise on request of the Council.

14.4

Whilst there are no plans to request that licensed premises share their risk assessments on
a periodic basis, where concerns do exist, perhaps prompted by new or existing risks, the
Licensing Authority is likely to request that a licensee share a copy of its risk assessment.
The risk assessment will set out the measures the licensee has put in place to address
specific concerns, thereby potentially reducing the occasions on which a premises review
and the imposition of licence conditions is required.

14.5

In some circumstances it may be appropriate for the Licensing Authority to offer a licensee
the opportunity to volunteer specific conditions that could be attached to the premises
licence.

14.6

The code requires the Licensing Authority to set out matters they expect the operator to
take account of in the risk assessment in its statement of policy and this Licensing Authority
would recommend that the following matters are considered by operators when making
their risk assessment.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and incidences of underage
gambling,
Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding self-exclusions and
gaming trends.
Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay days or benefit
payments
Proximity to schools, commercial environment or other factors affecting footfall
Range of facilities in proximity to the licensed premises such as other gambling outlets,
banks, post offices, refreshment and entertainment type facilities
Known problems in the area such as problems arising from street drinkers, youths
participating in anti-social behaviour, drug dealing activities, etc.
Potential for money laundering

Page
25
11

Matters relating to children and young persons, including;
• Institutions, places or areas where presence of children and young persons should be
expected such as schools, youth clubs, parks, playgrounds and entertainment venues
• Any premises where children congregate including bus stops, café’s, shops, and any
other place where children are attracted,
• Areas that are prone to issues of youths participating in anti social behaviour, including
such activities as graffiti/tagging, underage drinking, etc.
• Recorded incidents of attempted underage gambling
• Areas where there is a presence of children and young persons on a seasonal basis
(e.g. school holidays) such as holiday resorts, visitor attractions, etc.
Matters relating to vulnerable adults, including;
• Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions
• Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay days or benefit
payments
• Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding self-exclusions and
gaming trends.
• Proximity of premises which may be frequented by vulnerable people such as
hospitals, residential care homes, medical facilities, doctor’s surgeries, council housing
offices, addiction clinics or help centres, places where alcohol or drug dependant
people may congregate, etc.
Other issues that may be considered could include:
• Proximity of premises which may be frequented by large numbers of people including
sports stadiums, leisure centres, places of worship.
This list is not exhaustive and other factors not in this list that are identified must be taken
into consideration.
14.7

The Risk Assessment must be kept on the premises to which it relates and available for
inspection by an authorised officer of the licensing authority or Gambling Commission.

14.8

There is no mandatory requirement for a Licensing Authority to undertake a specific Local
Area Profile and this authority has decided not to do so at the time of producing reviewing
this policy statement.

Page12 26

Part B – Premises Licences
1

General Principles: Consideration of Applications

1.1

Premises Licences are subject to the requirements set out in the Act and regulations as
well as specific mandatory and default conditions which are set out in regulations issued by
the Secretary of State. Licensing Authorities are able to exclude default conditions and also
attach others where it believes it is necessary and appropriate.

1.2

This Licensing Authority recognises that in making decisions about premises licences it
should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it is:
•
•
•
•

in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission
in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission
reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and
in line with the Authority’s Statement of Licensing Principles.

1.3

The Authority appreciates that, as stated in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to
Licensing Authorities, “moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject
applications for premises licences” (except as regards any ‘no casino resolution’ – see
section on Casinos below) and also that unmet demand is not a consideration for a
Licensing Authority.

1.4

Definition of ‘premises’. In the Act, “premises” is defined as including “any place”. Section
152 therefore prevents more than one premises licence applying to any place. But a single
building could be subject to more than one premises licence, provided they are for different
parts of the building and the different parts of the building can be reasonably regarded as
being different premises. This approach has been taken to allow large, multiple unit
premises such as a pleasure park, pier, track or shopping mall to obtain discrete premises
licences, where appropriate safeguards are in place. However, licensing authorities should
pay particular attention if there are issues about sub-divisions of a single building or plot
and should ensure that mandatory conditions relating to access between premises are
observed.
The Gambling Commission states in its Guidance that: “In most cases the expectation is
that a single building / plot will be the subject of an application for a licence, for example, 32
High Street. But, that does not mean 32 High Street cannot be the subject of separate
premises licences for the basement and ground floor, if they are configured acceptably.
Whether different parts of a building can properly be regarded as being separate premises
will depend on the circumstances. The location of the premises will clearly be an important
consideration and the suitability of the division is likely to be a matter for discussion
between the operator and the licensing officer. However, the Commission does not
consider that areas of a building that are artificially or temporarily separated, for example by
ropes or moveable partitions, can properly be regarded as different premises”.

1.5

This Licensing Authority takes particular note of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to
licensing authorities which states that licensing authorities should take particular care in
considering applications for multiple licences for a building and those relating to a discrete
part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes. In particular, they should be
aware of the following:
•

The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed by gambling.
In practice that means not only preventing them from taking part in gambling, but also
preventing them from being in close proximity to gambling. Therefore premises should
be configured so that children are not invited to participate in, have accidental access

Page
27
13

•

•
•

to or closely observe gambling where they are prohibited from participating.
Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more premises
licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of different premises
is not compromised and people do not “drift” into a gambling area. In this context it
should normally be possible to access the premises without going through another
licensed premises or premises with a permit.
Adequate separation may be obtained by means of screening, walls, clear signage,
PIR alarms etc.
Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the premises licence

The Guidance also gives a list of factors which this licensing authority should be aware of,
which may include such matters as:
•
•
•
•

whether the premises has a separate registration for business rates
whether adjacent premises are owned by the same person
whether the premises can be accessed from the street or a public passageway
whether the premises can be accessed from any other gambling premises

This licensing authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its decision,
depending on all the circumstances of the case.
The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each premises type are
reproduced below from the Guidance:
Casinos
• The principal access entrance to the premises must be from a street.
• No entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or mainly by
children and/or young persons.
• No customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any other premises which
holds a gambling premises licence.
Adult Gaming Centre
• No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any other licensed
gambling premises or one with a permit (UFEC).
Betting Shops
• Access must be from a street or from another premises with a betting premises licence
• No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the retail sale of
merchandise or services. In effect, there cannot be an entrance to a betting shop from
a shop of any kind and you could not have a betting shop at the back of a café – the
whole area would have to be licensed.
Tracks
• No customer should be able to access the premises directly from:
- a casino
- an adult gaming centre
Bingo Premises
• No customer must be able to access the premise directly from:
- a casino
- an adult gaming centre
- a betting premises, other than a track
Family Entertainment Centre
• No customer must be able to access the premises directly from:
- a casino

Page14 28

- an adult gaming centre
- betting premises, other than a track
Part 7 of the Guidance contains further guidance on this issue, which this licensing authority
will also take into account in its decision-making.

1.6

Premises “ready for gambling”
The Guidance states that a licence to use premises for gambling should only be issued in
relation to premises that this licensing authority can be satisfied are going to be ready to be
used for gambling in the reasonably near future, consistent with the scale of building or
alterations required before the premises are brought into use.
If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, or if the
applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an application for a Provisional
Statement should be made instead (see section 10).
In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are outstanding
construction or alteration works at a premises, this licensing authority will determine
applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration process:• First, whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling
• Second, whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the situation
that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to be before gambling
takes place.
Applicants should note that this Licensing Authority is entitled to decide that it is appropriate
to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to grant such a licence.
More detailed examples of the circumstances in which such a licence may be granted can
be found in the Guidance.

1.7

Location. This Licensing Authority recognises that demand issues cannot be considered
with regard to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the licensing
objectives are relevant to its decision making. In accordance with the Gambling
Commission’s Guidance for local authorities, this authority will pay particular attention to the
protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling,
as well as issues of crime and disorder. Should any specific policy be decided upon as
regards areas where gambling premises should not be located, this statement will be
updated. It should be noted that any such policy does not preclude any application being
made and each application will be decided on its merits, with the onus upon the applicant
showing how potential concerns can be overcome.

1.8

Planning.
This licensing authority will not normally have regard to planning matters when determining
licence applications. Such matters will generally be deemed to be irrelevant to the licensing
process. This Licensing Authority will have regard to the following excerpt from the
Guidance:
“When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the licensing
authority should not take into account whether those buildings have or comply with the
necessary planning or building consents. Those matters should be dealt with under
relevant planning control and building regulation powers, and not form part of the
consideration for the premises licence. Section 210 of the Act prevents licensing authorities
taking into account the likelihood of the proposal by the applicant obtaining planning or
building consent when considering a premises licence application. Equally the grant of a

Page
29
15

gambling premises licence does not prejudice or prevent any action that may be
appropriate under the law relating to planning or building”
1.9

Duplication with other Regulatory Regimes
This licensing authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory/regulatory
systems where possible. Fire or health and safety risks will not be taken into account, as
these matters are dealt with under relevant planning control, buildings and other regulations
and must not form part of the consideration for the premises licence.

1.10

Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime
or disorder or being used to support crime.
This Licensing Authority is aware that the Gambling Commission takes a leading role in
preventing gambling from being a source of crime. The Commission’s Guidance does
however envisage that licensing authorities should pay attention to the proposed location of
gambling premises in terms of this licensing objective. Thus, where an area has known
high levels of organised crime this authority will consider carefully whether it is appropriate
to locate gambling premises in such an area and whether conditions may be desirable such
as the provision of door supervisors. This Licensing Authority is aware of the distinction
between disorder and nuisance and will consider relevant factors in order to make that
distinction.

1.11

Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way.
This licensing authority has noted that the Gambling Commission states that it generally
does not expect licensing authorities to be concerned with ensuring that gambling is
conducted in a fair and open way as this will be addressed via operating and personal
licences. There is however more of a role with regarding to tracks which is explained in
more detail in section 7 below.

1.12

Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by
gambling.
This Licensing Authority has noted the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to licensing
authorities which states that this objective means preventing children from taking part in
gambling (as well as restriction of advertising so that gambling products are not aimed at or
are, particularly attractive to children). This Licensing Authority will therefore consider, as
suggested in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, whether specific measures are
required at particular types of premises, with regard to this licensing objective. Appropriate
measures may include supervision of entrances / machines, segregation of areas etc.
This Licensing Authority will have regard to the Gambling Commission’s Codes of Practice
in relation to this licensing objective.
The Gambling Commission does not offer a definition of the term ‘vulnerable persons’ but
states that “it will, for regulatory purposes, assume that this group includes people who
gamble more than they want to, people who gamble beyond their means and people who
may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to a mental
impairment, alcohol or drugs.” This Licensing Authority will consider this licensing objective
on a case by case basis.
The Gambling Commission Guidance to Local Authorities sets out considerations that an
operator must make in order to protect children and young people from accessing gambling
premises.

Page16 30

The Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) prescribe how operators must
prevent children from using age restricted gaming or gambling activities, particularly where
gaming machines are present. In particular operators must ensure that:
•
•
•

all staff are trained,
that all customers are supervised when on gambling premises
procedures for identifying customers who are at risk of gambling related harm are in
place.

The Council will expect all operators to have policies and procedures in place as required
by the LCCP codes on social responsibility. These should cover all aspects including in
particular staff training records and self-exclusion records.
Further provisions with regard to self-exclusion and marketing are included in the social
responsibility code. The council will take all conditions and codes into account when
considering applications or performing enforcement activities.
Appendix B provides information for licence holders and their employees to help them
report, to the relevant authorities, matters of concern that could relate to the safety of
children and vulnerable persons, particularly as it relates to child sexual exploitation and
trafficking.
1.13

Licence Conditions
Conditions may be attached to licences issued under the Gambling Act in a number of
ways. They may be attached automatically by the Act, or by regulation, or attached to
operating and personal licences by the Gambling Commission. Additionally this Licensing
Authority has the discretion to attach conditions to premises licences. This latter discretion
extends also in certain circumstances to excluding default conditions from premises
licences, and may replace them with either more, or less, restrictive conditions.
Any conditions attached to licences will be:
•
•
•
•
•

proportionate
relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling facility
directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for;
fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises: and
reasonable in all other respects.

Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, although there
will be a number of measures this Licensing Authority will consider utilising should there be
a perceived need, such as the use of door supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only
areas etc. There are specific comments made in this regard under some of the licence
types below. This Licensing Authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her
own suggestions as to way in which the licensing objectives can be met effectively.
This Licensing Authority will also consider specific measures which may be required for
buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences. Such measures may include the
supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from non-gambling areas frequented by
children; and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific premises
in order to pursue the licensing objectives. These matters are in accordance with the
Gambling Commission’s Guidance.
This authority will also ensure that where category C or above machines are on offer in
premises to which children are admitted:
•

all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated from the

Page
31
17

•
•
•
•

remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access
other than through a designated entrance;
only adults (i.e. persons over 18 years) are admitted to the area where these machines
are located;
access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by
the staff or the licence holder; and
at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed notices
indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18.

These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple premises
licences are applicable.
This Licensing Authority recognises that tracks may be subject to more than one premises
licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track. In accordance with
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, this Licensing Authority will consider the impact
upon the third licensing objective and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of
premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are
not permitted to enter.
The Licensing Authority may not attach the following conditions to premises licences:
•
•
•
•
1.14

any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply with an
operating licence condition;
conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of operation;
conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the Act
specifically removes the membership requirement for casino and bingo clubs) and this
provision prevents it being reinstated; and
conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes.

Door Supervisors.
The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance that if a licensing authority is concerned
that a premises may attract disorder or be subject to attempts at unauthorised access (for
example by children and young persons) then it may require that the entrances to the
premises are controlled by a door supervisor, and is entitled to impose a premises licence
to this effect.
Where it is decided that supervision of entrances/machines is appropriate for particular
cases, a consideration of whether these need to be SIA licensed or not will be necessary. It
will not be automatically assumed that they need to be licensed, as the statutory
requirements for different types of premises vary (as per the Guidance, Part 33).

2

Adult Gaming Centres
This Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant
to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year
olds do not have access to the premises. Appropriate licence conditions may cover issues
such as:
•
•
•
•
•

CCTV
Door supervisors
Location of entry
Notices / signage
Physical separation of areas

Page18 32

•
•
•
•
•

Proof of age schemes
Provision information leaflets helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.
Self-exclusion schemes
Specific opening hours
Supervision of entrances / machine areas

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures.

3

Licensed Family Entertainment Centres

3.1

This Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant
to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year
olds do not have access to any adult only gaming machine areas.

3.2

This Licensing Authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives however
appropriate measures / licence conditions may cover issues such as:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

CCTV
Door supervisors
Location of entry
Measures / training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school children on the
premises
Notices / signage
Physical separation of areas
Proof of age schemes
Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.
self-exclusion schemes
Specific opening hours
Supervision of entrances / machine areas

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures.
3.3

This Licensing Authority will, in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s guidance,
refer to the Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to Operating Licences
which relate to the way in which the area containing the category C machines should be
delineated. This Licensing Authority will also have regard to any mandatory or default
conditions on these premises licences, when they have been published.

4

Casinos
Torridge District Council has not passed a ‘no casino’ resolution under Section 166 of the
Gambling Act 2005, but is aware that it has the power to do so. Should this Licensing
Authority decide in the future to pass such a resolution, it will update this Statement of
Principles accordingly. Any such decision will be made by the full Council.
Despite the fact that the Council has not passed such a resolution, the Council is currently
not enabled by the Secretary of State (in accordance with regulations made under Section
175 of the Act) to grant a premises licence for a casino.

Page
33
19

5

Bingo premises
This licensing authority notes that the Guidance states:
“Licensing authorities will need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be played in any bingo
premises for which they issue a premises licence. An operator may chose to vary their
licence to exclude a previously licensed area of that premises, and then apply for a new
premises licence, or multiple new premises licences, with the aim of creating separate
premises in that area. Essentially providing multiple licensed premises within a single
building or site. Before issuing additional bingo premises licences, licensing authorities
need to consider whether bingo can be played at each of those new premises.
This licensing authority also notes the Guidance regarding the unusual circumstances in
which the splitting of a pre-existing premises into two adjacent premises might be permitted,
and in particular that it is not permissible for all of the gaming machines to which each of
the licence brings an entitlement to be grouped together within one of the licensed
premises.
Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises. However they are not
permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or C machines are made available for
use these must be separated from areas where children and young people are allowed.

6

Betting premises
Betting machines
This licensing authority will, in accordance the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, take into
account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions available for person-toperson transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children
and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people,
when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator wants
to offer.
The Authority will also have particular regard to the location of any gaming machines within
a premises and will wish to be satisfied that such machines can be directly observed and
supervised by members of staff in order to prevent underage gaming.

The Authority will require a full premises licence variation application when premises
are intending to apply screens and/or booths around gaming machines.

7

Tracks

7.1

Section 353 of the Act defines a track as ‘a horse-race course, dog track or other premises
on any part of which a race or other sporting event takes place or is intended to take place’.
This means that land which has a number of uses, such as agricultural land, may meet the
definition of a track and could be used, for example, for point-to point meetings.

7.2

This Licensing Authority is aware that tracks may be subject to more than one premises
licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track. In accordance with
the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this Licensing Authority will especially consider the
impact upon the third licensing objective (the protection of children and vulnerable persons
from being harmed or exploited by gambling) and the need to ensure that entrances to
each type of premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas
where they are not permitted to enter.

Page20 34

7.3

This Authority will therefore expect the applicant for the premises licence to demonstrate
suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult only gaming facilities.
This Licensing Authority will expect that, where children and young persons are permitted
to enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days when dog-racing
and/or horse racing takes place, they will be prevented from entering areas where gaming
machines (other than category D machines) are provided.

7.4

This Licensing Authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives such as:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

CCTV
Location of entry
Notices / signage
Physical separation of areas
Proof of age schemes
Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare
Self-exclusion schemes
Specific opening hours
Supervision of entrances / machine areas

This list is not mandatory or exhaustive and is merely indicative of example measures.
7.5

Gaming machines
Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating licence and is going to use the
entitlement to four gaming machines, machines (other than category D machines) should
be located in areas from which children are excluded.

.
7.6

Betting machines
This licensing authority will, in accordance part 6 of the Guidance, take into account the
size of the premises and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children
and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people,
when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator
proposes to offer.

7.7

Applications and plans.
The Act (s151) requires applicants to submit plans of the premises with their application, in
order to ensure that this licensing authority has the necessary information to make an
informed judgement about whether the premises are fit for gambling. The plan will also be
used for this licensing authority to plan future premises inspection activity.
Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular scale, but should be drawn to scale and
should be sufficiently detailed to include the information required by regulations.
Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land where the perimeter is not defined by
virtue of an outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point racetracks. In such instances, where
an entry fee is levied, track premises licence holders may erect temporary structures to
restrict access to premises.
In the rare cases where the outer perimeter cannot be defined, it is likely that the track in
question will not be specifically designed for the frequent holding of sporting events or
races. In such cases betting facilities may be better provided through occasional use
notices where the boundary premises do not need to be defined.

Page
35
21

This licensing authority appreciates that it is sometimes difficult to define the precise
location of betting areas on tracks. The precise location of where betting facilities are
provided is not required to be shown on track plans, both by virtue of the fact that betting is
permitted anywhere on the premises and because of the difficulties associated with
pinpointing exact locations for some types of track. Applicants should provide sufficient
information that this licensing authority can satisfy itself that the plan indicates the main
areas where betting might take place. For racecourses in particular, any betting areas
subject to the “five times rule” (commonly known as betting rings) must be indicated on the
plan.

8

Vessels

8.1

Premises licences will only be issued for vessels normally berthed within the Council area.

8.2

The Licensing Authority when considering applications for premises licences in respect of
vessels will give particular weight to the views of the Maritime and Coastguard Agency in
respect of promoting the licensing objectives. Where in the opinion of the Licensing
Authority any of the three objectives are undermined, and this cannot be resolved through
the imposition of conditions, the application will be refused.

9

Travelling Fairs

9.1

It is a statutory requirement that – where gaming is provided at travelling fairs - the gaming
facilities are no more than an ancillary amusement to the fair itself. Where category D
machines and / or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made available for
use at travelling fairs, this licensing authority will be responsible for deciding whether the
statutory requirement is satisfied.

9.2

This licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the statutory
definition of a travelling fair.

9.3

It is noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair applies on a
calendar year basis, and that it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs are held,
regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs occupying the land. This
licensing authority will work with its neighbouring authorities to ensure that land which
crosses our boundaries is monitored so that the statutory limits are not exceeded.

10

Provisional Statements

10.1

Developers may wish to apply to this licensing authority for provisional statements before
entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge whether a development is
worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a premises licence. There is no need for
the applicant to hold an operating licence in order to apply for a provisional statement.

10.2

Section 204 of the Act provides for a person to make an application to this licensing
authority for a provisional statement in respect of premises that he or she:
- expects to be constructed;
- expects to be altered; or
- expects to acquire a right to occupy.

10.3

The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the same as that
for a premises licence application. The applicant is obliged to give notice of the application
in the same way as applying for a premises licence. Responsible authorities and interested
parties may make representations and there are rights of appeal.

Page22 36

10.4

In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have to hold or have
applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission (except in the case of a
track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy the premises in respect of which their
provisional application is made.

10.5

The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence once the
premises are constructed, altered or acquired. This licensing authority will be constrained in
the matters it can consider when determining the premises licence application, and in terms
of representations about premises licence applications that follow the grant of a provisional
statement, no further representations from relevant authorities or interested parties can be
taken into account unless:
•
they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional
statement stage, or
•
they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.
In addition, this licensing authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms
different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to matters:
•
•
•

which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional statement stage;
which in this licensing authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s
circumstances; or
where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the plan submitted
with the application. This must be a substantial change to the plan and this licensing
authority notes that it can discuss any concerns it has with the applicant before
making a decision.

11

Reviews

11.1

Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by Interested Parties or
Responsible Authorities. However, it will be for this Licensing Authority to decide whether
the review is to be carried out. The decision will be based of whether the request for the
review is:
•
•
•
•

in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission;
in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission;
reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and
in accordance with the authority’s Statement of Principles.

11.2

The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by this licensing
authority as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or whether it will certainly not
cause this licensing authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or whether it is
substantially the same as previous representations or requests for review.

11.3

This licensing authority can also initiate a review of a particular premises licence, or a
particular class of premises licence on the basis of any reason which it thinks is
appropriate.

11.4

Once a valid application for a review has been received by this licensing authority,
representations can be made by responsible authorities and interested parties during a 28
day period. This period begins 7 days after the application was received by this licensing
authority, who will publish notice of the application within 7 days of receipt.

11.5

This licensing authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after the 28 day
period for making representations has passed.

Page
37
23

11.6

The purpose of the review will be to determine whether this licensing authority should take
any action in relation to the licence. If action is justified, the options open to this licensing
authority are:(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by this licensing authority;
exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State (e.g. opening hours)
or remove or amend such an exclusion;
suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months; and
revoke the premises licence.

11.7

In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, this licensing
authority must have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of the Act, as well as any
relevant representations.

11.8

In particular, this licensing authority may also initiate a review of a premises licence on the
grounds that a premises licence holder has not provided facilities for gambling at the
premises. This is to prevent people from applying for licences in a speculative manner
without intending to use them.

11.9

Once the review has been completed, this licensing authority will, as soon as possible,
notify its decision to:
the licence holder
the applicant for review (if any)
the Commission
any person who made representations
the chief officer of police or chief constable; and
Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs.

Page24 38

Part C – Permits, Registrations and Notices
1

Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre

1.1

Where a premises does not hold a Premises Licence but wishes to provide gaming
machines, it may apply to this Licensing Authority for a permit for an unlicensed Family
Entertainment Centre. The permit will authorise only the lowest value (Category D) gaming
machines suitable for use by children or young persons. It should be noted that the
applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly used for making gaming
machines available for use (Section 238).

1.2

The Act states that a Licensing Authority may prepare a statement of principles that they
propose to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant for a permit and in
preparing this statement, and/or considering applications, it need not (but may) have regard
to the licensing objectives and shall have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the
Commission under section 25 of the Act. The Commission’s Guidance to licensing
authorities also states: “a licensing authority may include a statement of principles that they
propose to apply when exercising their functions in considering applications for permits.
Licensing authorities will want to give weight to matters relating to child protection issues."

1.3

Guidance also states, “An application for a permit may be granted only if the licensing
authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed Family Entertainment
Centre and if the Chief Officer of Police has been consulted on the application”. This
Licensing Authority will require the applicant to demonstrate:
•
•
•

a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is
permissible in unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres;
that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7 of
the Act); and
that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes.

1.4

It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to this type of permit.

1.5

This licensing authority has adopted a Statement of Principles in accordance with
Paragraph 7 of Schedule 10 of the Act for the purposes of clarifying the measures that the
Authority will expect applicants to demonstrate when applying for a permit for an unlicensed
family entertainment centre. This will allow the Authority to better determine the suitability
of the applicant and the premises for a permit.

1.6

Within this process the Authority will aim to grant the permit where the applicant is able to
demonstrate that:
•
•
•

they are a fit and proper person to hold the permit
they have considered and are proposing suitable measures to promote
the licensing objectives, and
they have a legal right to occupy the premises to which the permit is sought.

1.7

The measures suggested in this document should be read as guidance only and the council
will be happy for applicants to suggest measures above and beyond those listed in the
document and or to substitute measures as appropriate.

1.8

The term ‘unlicensed family entertainment centre’ is one defined in the Act and refers to a
premises which provides category D gaming machines along with various other
amusements such as computer games and penny-pushers. The premises is ‘unlicensed’ in
that it does not require a premises licence but does require a permit to be able to provide its
category D gaming machines. It should not be confused with a ‘licensed family

Page
39
25

entertainment centre’ which does require a premises licence because it contains both
category C and D gaming machines.
1.9

Unlicensed family entertainment centres (uFECs) will be most commonly located at seaside
resorts, in airports and at motorway style service centres, and will cater for families,
including unaccompanied children and young persons.

1.10

The Authority will only grant a uFEC gaming machine permit where it is satisfied that the
premises will be operated as a bonafide unlicensed family entertainment centre.

1.11

The Authority may refuse an application if it is not satisfied that the issues raised in this
“Statement of Principles” have been addressed through the application.

1.12

The Authority will require the following supporting documents to be served with all uFEC
gaming machine permit applications:
•
•
•

•

•

proof of age (a certified copy or sight of an original birth certificate, a photo style driving
licence, or passport – all applicants for these permits must be aged 18 or over)
proof that the applicant has the right to occupy the premises. Acceptable evidence
would be a copy of any lease, a copy of the property’s deeds or a similar document
the result of a criminal records basic disclosure [criminal conviction certificate] (the
disclosure must have been issued within the previous month). This will be used to
check that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule
7 of the Act.) – Basic Disclosures can be obtained from the Disclosure and Barring
Service (DBS). For further details visit their website: https://www.gov.uk/request-copycriminal-record
o Where an applicant provides evidence that they have an Operating Licence
and as a result have undergone rigorous checks by the Gambling
Commission, then a criminal record disclosure check will not be required.
o Where an applicant is a company or organisation and does not hold an
Operating Licence, then the proposed Manager responsible for the day to day
running of the premises will be required to produce a criminal record
disclosure check dated within one calendar month of the date of the
application being submitted to the Licensing Authority.
o When a permit holder appoints a new manager responsible for the day to day
running of the premises, that person will be required to produce a criminal
record disclosure check dated within one calendar month of the appointment
date.
In the case of applications for an uFEC gaming machine permit evidence that the
machines to be provided are or were supplied by a legitimate gambling machine
supplier or manufacturer who holds a valid gaming machine technical operating licence
issued by the Gambling Commission
A plan of the premises for which the permit is sought showing the following items:
(i)
the boundary of the building with any external or internal walls, entrances and
exits to the building and any internal doorways
(ii) where any category D gaming machines are positioned and the particular type
of machines to be provided (e.g. slot machines, penny-falls, cranes)
(iii) the positioning and types of any other amusement machines on the premises
(iv) the location of any fixed or semi-fixed counters, booths or offices on the
premises whereby staff monitor the customer floor area
(v) the location of any ATM/cash machines or change machines
(vi) the location of any fixed or temporary structures such as columns or pillars
(vii) the location and height of any stages in the premises; any steps, stairs,
elevators, balconies or lifts in the premises
(viii) the location of any public toilets in the building

Page26 40

Unless otherwise agreed with the council, the plan should be drawn to a standard scale
with a key showing the items mentioned above. The standard scale is 1:100.
1.13

Protection of Children
The Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in
place to protect children from harm. Harm in this context is not limited to harm from
gambling but includes wider child protection considerations (please see appendix B). The
council will assess these policies and procedures on their merits, and they should
(depending on the particular permit being applied for) include appropriate measures /
training for staff relating to the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

maintain contact details for any local schools and or the education authority so that any
truant children can be reported
employ policies to address the problems associated with truant children who may
attempt to gain access to the premises and gamble when they should be at school
employ policies to address any problems that may arise during seasonal periods where
children may frequent the premises in greater numbers, such as half terms and summer
holidays
maintain information at the premises of the term times of any local schools in the vicinity
of the premises and also consider policies to ensure sufficient staffing levels during
these times
display posters displaying the ‘Child Line’ phone number in discreet locations on the
premises e.g. toilets
maintain an incident register of any problems that arise on the premises related to
children such as children gambling excessively, truant children, children being unruly or
young unaccompanied children entering the premises. (The register should be used to
detect any trends which require attention by the management of the premises.)
ensure all young children are accompanied by a responsible adult.
Maintain policies to deal with any young children who enter the premises
unaccompanied
The provision of satisfactory basic disclosure checks (criminal records checks) for all
staff who will be working closely with children.

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other similar
documents/written statements should be attached to the application.
1.14

Protection of Vulnerable Persons
The council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in place
to protect vulnerable persons. Applicants should refer to the section in the council’s
‘Statement of Licensing Policy under the Gambling Act 2005’ to familiarise themselves with
who the council considers vulnerable. The council will assess these policies and
procedures on their merits, however, they may (depending on the particular permit being
applied for) include appropriate measures / training for staff relating to the following:
•
•
•
•

display Gamcare helpline stickers on all gaming machines
display Gamcare posters in prominent locations on the premises
training for staff members which focuses on building an employee’s ability to maintain a
sense of awareness of how much (e.g. how long) customers are gambling, as part of
measures to detect persons who may be vulnerable
consider appropriate positioning of ATM and change machines. (including the display
of Gamcare stickers on any such machines.)

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other similar
documents/written statements should be attached to the application.

Page
41
27

1.15

Miscellaneous Matters
The applicant should also be mindful of the following possible control measures to minimise
crime and disorder and the possibility of public nuisance:
•
•
•
•

maintain an effective CCTV system to monitor the interior and exterior of the premises
keep the exterior of the premises clean and tidy
ensure that external lighting is suitably positioned and operated so as not to cause
nuisance to neighbouring or adjoining premises
consider the design and layout of the outside of the premises to deter the congregation
of children and youths.

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other similar
documents/written statements should be attached to the application.
1.16

The Licensing Authority encourages applicants for UFEC Permits to consider adopting
BACTA’s voluntary Code of Practice for Amusement with Prizes Machines in Family
Entertainment Centres. This Code of Practice promotes awareness of social responsibility,
and acknowledges that proactive specific and appropriate commitment will be given to
educating children and young persons, thereby minimising the potential for harm. The Code
now includes preventing under 18’s playing on reel type slot machines.

2

Alcohol Licensed Premises - Gaming Machines

2.1

Automatic Entitlement to Two Machines
There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the
premises, to automatically have 2 gaming machines, of categories C and/or D. The
premises merely need to notify the Licensing Authority and pay the prescribed fee. The
Licensing Authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any particular
premises if:
•
•

•
•

provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the licensing
objectives;
gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of section 282 of the
Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been provided to the Licensing Authority, that
a fee has been provided and that any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling
Commission about the location and operation of the machine has been complied with)
the premises are mainly used for gaming; or
an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises

The premises must comply with the Code of Practice for gaming machines in clubs and
premises with an alcohol licence issued by the Gambling Commission.
All gaming machines situated on the premises must be located in a place within the
premises so that their use can be supervised, either by staff whose duties include such
supervision (including bar or floor staff) or by other means.
2.2

Gaming Machine Permit (Three or More Machines)
If a premises wishes to have more than two machines, then a Gaming Machine Permit is
required. The Licensing Authority must consider an application for a permit based upon the
licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission issued under
Section 25 of the Act, and “other such matters as the Authority think relevant.” This
Licensing Authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on a case by case basis

Page28 42

but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons
from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the
authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not
have access to the adult gaming machines. Measures which will satisfy the authority that
there will be no access may include the adult machines being in site of the bar, or in the
sight of staff that will monitor that the machines are not being used by those under 18.
Notices and signage may also be helpful. As regards the protection of vulnerable persons,
applicants may wish to consider the provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for
organisations such as GamCare.
2.3

It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises licence for
their non-alcohol licensed areas. It is likely that any such application would need to be
applied for, and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre premises licence.

2.4

The holder of a permit must comply with the Gambling Commission’s Code of Practice for
gaming machines in clubs and premises with an alcohol licence. This Code covers the
location and operation of the machine and access by children and young persons.

2.5

Applicants should be aware that only those premises which have a ‘bar’ (servery) at which
alcohol is sold for consumption on the premises will be eligible for a machine in the bar area
of the premises. This means that premises such as restaurants, hairdressers or other
premises which do not have a bar for serving drinks or can only sell alcoholic drinks as an
ancillary to food (the old Part IV restaurant licences under the former Licensing Act 1964)
will no longer be entitled to have these machines on their premises.

3

Prize Gaming Permits

3.1

Section 288 of the Act defines gaming as prize gaming if the nature and size of the prize is
not determined by the number of people playing or the amount paid for or raised by the
gaming. The operator will determine the prizes before play commences. Prize gaming can
often be seen at seaside resorts in amusement arcades where a form of bingo is offered
and the prizes are displayed.
The Act states that a licensing authority may “prepare a statement of principles that they
propose to apply in exercising their functions under this Schedule” which “may, in particular,
specify matters that the Licensing Authority proposes to consider in determining the
suitability of the applicant for a permit”.

3.2

This licensing authority has adopted a Statement of Principles in accordance with
paragraph 8 of Schedule 14 of the Act and they are for the purposes of clarifying the
measures that the council will expect applicants to demonstrate when applying for a prize
gaming permit. This will allow the Authority to better determine the suitability of the
applicant and the premises for a permit.

3.3

Within this process the Authority will aim to grant the permit where the applicant is able to
demonstrate that:
•
•
•

3.4

they are a fit and proper person to hold the permit
they have considered and are proposing suitable measures to promote
the licensing objectives, and
they have a legal right to occupy the premises to which the permit is sought.

This Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to set out the types of gaming that he or
she is intending to offer and that the applicant should be able to demonstrate:

Page
43
29

•
•
•

that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in regulations;
and that the gaming offered is within the law.
clear policies that outline steps to be taken to protect children from harm.

3.5

In making its decision on an application for a prize gaming permit a licensing authority does
not need to (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard to any
Gambling Commission guidance. (Gambling Act 2005, Schedule 14 paragraph 8(3)).

3.6

The measures suggested in this document should be read as guidance only and the
Authority will be happy for applicants to suggest measures above and beyond those listed
in the document and or to substitute measures as appropriate.

3.7

A prize gaming permit is a permit issued by the council to authorise the provision of
facilities for gaming with prizes on specified premises.

3.8

Applicants should be aware of the conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 with which prize
gaming permit holders must comply. The conditions in the Act are:
•
•

•
•

the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied with;
all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on which the
gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played and completed on the
day the chances are allocated; and the result of the game must be made public in the
premises on the day that it is played;
the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in
regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); and
participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other gambling.

3.9

In accordance with the Act, while the council cannot attach conditions to this type of permit,
the Authority can refuse applications if they are not satisfied that the issues raised in this
Statement of Principles have been addressed through the application.

3.10

Supporting Documents
The council will require the following supporting documents to be served with all prize
gaming permit applications:
•
•
•

•

proof of age (a certified copy or sight of an original birth certificate, photo style driving
licence, or passport – all applicants for these permits must be aged 18 or over)
proof that the applicant has the right to occupy the premises. Acceptable evidence
would be a copy of any lease, a copy of the property’s deeds or a similar document
the result of a criminal records basic disclosure [criminal conviction certificate] (the
disclosure must have been issued within the previous month). This will be used to
check that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule
7 of the Act.) – Basic Disclosures can be obtained from the Disclosure and Barring
Service (DBS). For further details visit their website: https://www.gov.uk/request-copycriminal-record
A plan of the premises for which the permit is sought showing the following items:
(i)
the boundary of the building with any external or internal walls, entrances and
exits to the building and any internal doorways
(iii) The location where any prize gaming will take place (including any seating and
tables) and the area where any prizes will be displayed
(iv) the positioning and types of any other amusement machines on the premises
(v) the location of any fixed or semi-fixed counters, booths or offices on the
premises whereby staff monitor the customer floor area
(vi) the location of any ATM/cash machines or change machines
(vii) the location of any fixed or temporary structures such as columns or pillars

Page30 44

(viii) the location and height of any stages in the premises; any steps, stairs,
elevators, balconies or lifts in the premises
(ix) the location of any public toilets in the building
Unless otherwise agreed with the council, the plan should be drawn to a standard scale
with a key showing the items mentioned above. The standard scale is 1:100.
3.11

Protection of Children
The council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in place
to protect children from harm. Harm in this context is not limited to harm from gambling but
includes wider child protection considerations (please see appendix B). The council will
assess these policies and procedures on their merits, and they should (depending on the
particular permit being applied for) include appropriate measures / training for staff relating
to the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

maintain contact details for any local schools and or the education authority so that any
truant children can be reported
employ policies to address the problems associated with truant children who may
attempt to gain access to the premises and gamble when they should be at school
employ policies to address any problems that may arise during seasonal periods where
children may frequent the premises in greater numbers, such as half terms and summer
holidays
maintain information at the premises of the term times of any local schools in the vicinity
of the premises and also consider policies to ensure sufficient staffing levels during
these times
display posters displaying the ‘Child Line’ phone number in discreet locations on the
premises e.g. toilets
maintain an incident register of any problems that arise on the premises related to
children such as children gambling excessively, truant children, children being unruly or
young unaccompanied children entering the premises. (The register should be used to
detect any trends which require attention by the management of the premises.)
ensure all young children are accompanied by a responsible adult.
Maintain policies to deal with any young children who enter the premises
unaccompanied
The provision of satisfactory basic disclosure checks (criminal records checks) for all
staff who will be working closely with children.

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other similar
documents/written statements should be attached to the application.
3.12

Protection of Vulnerable Persons
The council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in place
to protect vulnerable persons. Applicants should refer to the section in the council’s
‘Statement of Licensing Policy under the Gambling Act 2005’ to familiarise themselves with
who the council considers vulnerable. The council will assess these policies and
procedures on their merits, however, they may (depending on the particular permit being
applied for) include appropriate measures / training for staff relating to the following:
•
•
•

display Gamcare helpline stickers on all gaming machines
display Gamcare posters in prominent locations on the premises
training for staff members which focuses on building an employee’s ability to maintain a
sense of awareness of how much (e.g. how long) customers are gambling, as part of
measures to detect persons who may be vulnerable

Page
45
31

•

consider appropriate positioning of ATM and change machines (including the display of
Gamcare stickers on any such machines).

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other similar
documents/written statements should be attached to the application.
3.13

Miscellaneous Matters
The applicant should also be mindful of the following possible control measures (depending
on the particular permit being applied for) to minimise crime and disorder and the possibility
of public nuisance:
•
•
•
•

maintain an effective CCTV system to monitor the interior and exterior of the premises
keep the exterior of the premises clean and tidy
ensure that external lighting is suitably positioned and operated so as not to cause
nuisance to neighbouring or adjoining premises
consider the design and layout of the outside of the premises to deter the congregation
of children and youths.

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other similar
documents/written statements should be attached to the application.

4

Club Gaming and Club Machine Permits

4.1

Members Clubs (but not commercial clubs) may apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Club
Gaming Machines Permit. The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide
gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and games
of chance as set out in regulations. A Club Gaming machine permit will enable the
premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D).

4.1

Member’s Clubs (but not Commercial Clubs) may apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Club
Gaming Machine Permit.
A Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines
of categories B3A or B4, C or D), equal chance gaming and games of chance as set out in
regulations i.e. pontoon and chemin de fer. This is in addition to the exempt gaming
authorised under S.269 of the Act.
Alternatively a member’s club (but not commercial clubs) can apply for a Club Gaming
Machine Permit will enable the premises to provide only gaming machines (3 machines of
categories B3A or B4, C or D).
Commercial clubs are not permitted to provide non-machine gaming (other than exempt
gaming under section 269 of the Act) which means that they should only apply for a Club
Gaming Machine Permit. However they are not able to site category B3A gaming machines
offering lottery games in their club.

4.2

The Licensing Authority will need to satisfy itself that the club meets the requirements of the
Gambling Act 2005 to hold a club gaming permit or a club gaming machine permit. In order
to do this, it will require proof of additional information from the operator, for example:
•
•
•
•
•

Is a list of committee members and evidence of their election by club members?
Are minutes of previous meetings (where appropriate)?
Is the primary activity of the club something other than gaming?
Are the club’s profits retained solely for the benefit of the club’s members?
Are there 25 or more members?

Page32 46

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

4.3

When examining the club’s constitution, the Licensing Authority would expect to see
evidence of the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

4.4

Who makes commercial decisions on behalf of the club?
Are the aims of the club set out in the constitution?
Are there shareholders or members? Shareholders indicate a business venture rather
than a non-profit making club.
Is the club permanently established? (Clubs cannot be temporary).
Are there suitable rules as to the election and admission to the club of new members?
What is the usual duration of membership?
Can people join with a temporary membership? What is the usual duration of
membership?
Are there long term club membership benefits?
Is there a provision for annual general meetings?
Is there a provision for the election of officers?

Aside from bridge and whist clubs, clubs may not be established wholly or mainly for the
purposes of gaming. The Licensing Authority will consider such factors as:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

4.5

Are the addresses of members of the club genuine domestic addresses and do most
members live reasonably locally to the club?
Do members participate in the activities of the club via the internet?
Do guest arrangements link each guest to a member?
Is the 48 hour rule being applied for membership and being granted admission being
adhered to?
Are there annual club accounts available for more than one year?
How is the club advertised and listed in directories and on the internet?
Are children permitted in the club?
Does the club have a constitution and can it provide evidence that the constitution was
approved by members of the club?
Is there a list of Committee members and evidence of their election by the club
members?

How many nights a week gaming is provided;
How the gaming is advertised;
What stakes and prizes are offered;
Whether there is evidence of leagues with weekly, monthly or annual winners;
Whether there is evidence of members who do not participate in gaming;
Whether there are teaching sessions to promote gaming such as poker;
Where there is a tie-in with other clubs offering gaming through tournaments and
leagues;
Whether there is sponsorship by gaming organisations;
Whether participation fees are within limits.

Licensing authorities may only refuse an application on the grounds that:
(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial club or
miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit for
which it has applied;
(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young persons;
(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the applicant
while providing gaming facilities;
(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or
(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.

Page
47
33

4.4

There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for premises which hold a Club
Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 (Schedule 12 paragraph 10). (NB.
Commercial clubs cannot hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003
and so cannot use the fast-track procedure). The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to
licensing authorities states: "Under the fast-track procedure there is no opportunity for
objections to be made by the Commission or the police, and the ground upon which an
authority can refuse a permit are reduced." The grounds on which an application under the
process may be refused are:
(a) that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed under
schedule 12;
(b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for other
gaming; or
(c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the last ten
years has been cancelled.

4.5

There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child under 18 uses a
category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any relevant
provision of a code of practice about the location and operation of gaming machines.
Further information on the categories of gaming machines is included at Appendix B.

5

Temporary Use Notices (TUN)

5.1

A Temporary Use Notice (TUN) allows the use of premises for gambling where there is no
premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the premises temporarily for
providing facilities for gambling. Premises that might be suitable for a temporary use notice,
according to the Gambling Commission, would include hotels, conference centres and
sporting venues.
A licensing authority can only grant a TUN to a person or company holding a relevant
operating licence, i.e. a non-remote casino operating licence.

5.2

The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can be
authorised by temporary use notices. At the time of writing this Statement the relevant
regulations (SI 2007 No 3157: The Act (Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007) state
that Temporary Use Notices can only be used to permit the provision of facilities or equal
chance gaming, where the gaming is intended to produce a single winner, which in practice
means poker tournaments.

5.3

There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use Notices. Gambling under
the authority of a TUN may only take place at a set of premises for a maximum of 21 days
in any twelve month period. The meaning of "premises" in Part 8 of the Act is discussed in
Part 7 of the Guidance. As with "premises", the definition of "a set of premises" will be a
question of fact in the particular circumstances of each notice that is given. In considering
whether a place falls within the definition of "a set of premises", this Licensing Authority
needs to look at, amongst other things, the ownership/occupation and control of the
premises.

5.4

This Licensing Authority expects to object to Temporary Use Notices where it appears that
their effect would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described as one
set of premises, as recommended in the Guidance.

6

Occasional Use Notices

Page34 48

6.1

An Occasional Use Notice allows betting on a track for up to eight days a year without the
need for a Premises Licence.

6.2

The Licensing Authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from
ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded. This
Licensing Authority will consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether the applicant is
permitted to serve the notice.

6.3

Further information can be found on the Gambling Commission website.

7

Small Society Lotteries (Incidental Non-Commercial Lotteries)

7.1

Under the Act, a lottery is unlawful unless it runs with an operating licence or is an exempt
lottery. The Licensing Authority will register and administer small society lotteries (as
defined). Promoting or facilitating a lottery will fall within 2 categories:
• licensed lotteries (requiring an operating licence from the Gambling Commission);
and
• exempt lotteries (including small society lotteries registered by the Licensing
Authority)

7.2

Exempt lotteries are lotteries permitted to run without a licence from the Gambling
Commission and these are:
• small society lotteries;
• incidental non-commercial lotteries;
• private lotteries;
• private society lotteries;
• work lotteries;
• residents’ lotteries;
• customer lotteries;

7.3

Torridge District Council will register and administer small society lotteries as defined under
the Act. In order to be registered, the Authority will need to be satisfied that the society is
established and conducted for:
• charitable purposes
• the purpose of enabling participation in, or supporting, sport, athletics or a cultural
activity
• any other non-commercial purpose other than private gain.

7.2

This Authority will adopt a risk-based approach to the regulation of small society lotteries.
Factors which the Authority may take into consideration are:
• Late submission of returns
• Submission of incomplete or incorrect returns
• Contravention of limits for small society lotteries

7.3

The Authority may refuse an application for registration on the following grounds:
• That an Operating Licence held by the applicant has been revoked
• That an application for an Operating Licence made by the applicant has been
revoked within the past five years
• That the society in question is not deemed to be non-commercial
• That a person connected with the lottery has been convicted of a relevant office as
defined in Schedule 7 to the Act

Page
49
35

•

Information provided in connection with the application is false or misleading.

7.4

Further information on lotteries is available on the Authority’s website at
www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing/lotteries

8

Exemptions

8.1

The Act makes provision for a number of forms of exempt gaming and betting. These will
generally be low-level, low-risk activities and, in some cases (e.g. poker in pubs and clubs),
limits on stakes and prizes are prescribed in regulations.

8.2

Private Gaming (Schedule 15)
Gaming is private gaming when it is equal chance gaming, no charge is made for
participation and the gaming is conducted entirely in private (i.e. in premises to which the
public does not have access).

8.3

Private Betting (ss. 295)
There are two types of private betting: domestic betting (e.g. betting in one’s own home)
and workers’ betting (betting among persons who all work for the same employer).

8.4

Non-commercial gaming (ss. 297 – 301)
Non-commercial gaming may be carried out without an authorisation subject to the
following conditions:
•
•
•
•

8.5

All players must be informed that the purpose of the gaming is to raise money for a
purpose other than private gain
Profits from the gaming must be applied for a purpose other than private gain
The event must not take place in a premises which has a premises licence or is
being used under a Temporary Use Notice
The gaming must not be remote gaming.

Alcohol-licensed Premises
The Act contains provisions which allow alcohol licensed premises (pubs, clubs) to provide
certain forms of gaming without the requirement for a licence/permit.
Bingo (ss.275 & 281)
Pubs and clubs are permitted to conduct low-turnover bingo. To qualify as low-turnover
bingo, the total value of stakes and prizes must not exceed £2,000 in any period of seven
days. Above this limit, bingo becomes high-turnover bingo and requires an Operating
Licence from the Commission plus a premises licence from the local authority.
Gaming (ss. 279 & 280)
These sections allow gaming facilities to be provided in pubs and clubs subject to certain
conditions:
•
•
•

Facilities must be for equal chance gaming only (e.g. poker)
Stakes and prizes must not exceed any limits set by regulations;
No amount may be deducted from amounts staked or won;

Page36 50

•
•
•
8.6

No fees may be charged to participate;
Gaming must not take place on more than one set of premises; and
Children under 18 must not participate.

Generally, the Authority will not become involved in these types of gambling unless the
exemption provisions are contravened – for example, if any of the limits on stakes and/or
prizes are exceeded. Any action will be taken in accordance with the Authority’s Licensing
Enforcement Policy

APPENDIX A
GLOSSARY
Betting – defined by the Act as making or accepting a bet on (a) the outcome of a race,
competition or other event or process, (b) the likelihood of anything occurring or not occurring, or
(c) whether anything is or is not true.
Casino – defined by the Act as “an arrangement whereby people are given an opportunity to
participate in one or more casino games”.
DCMS - Department of Culture, Media, and Sport
Equal Chance Gaming – gaming which does not involve playing or staking against a bank where
the chances are equally favourable to all participants
Gambling – defined by the Act as “gaming, betting or participating in a lottery”
Gambling Commission – the national body which regulates all forms of gambling in the UK.
Game of Chance – a game that (i) involves both an element of chance and an element of skill (ii)
involves an element of chance which can be eliminated by superlative skill and (iii) a game
presented as involving an element of chance BUT is not a sport.
Gaming – means playing a game of chance for a prize (s.6(1)
Gaming machine – a machine which is designed or adapted for use by individuals to gamble.
(Section 235 of the Act sets out a number of exemptions from this definition).
Lottery - defined by the Act as an arrangement whereby persons must pay to participate to win a
prize and the prizes are allocated wholly by chance.
Prize Gaming – defined by the Act as gaming where the nature or size of the prize is not
determined by the number of persons playing or by the money paid for the gaming
Responsible Authority –
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)

The Licensing Authority
The Gambling Commissioner
The Chief Officer of Devon & Cornwall Constabulary
The Devon Fire & Rescue Service
The local planning authority within the meaning given by the Town and Country Planning
act 1990 (c.8) for any area in which the premises are wholly or partly situated

Page
51
37

(vi)

(vi)

(vii)

The local authority by which statutory functions are exercisable in any area in which the
premises are wholly or partly situated in relation to minimising or preventing the risk of
pollution of the environment or of harm to human health
A body which is designated in writing for the purpose of this paragraph, by the Licensing
Authority for an area in which the premises are wholly or partly situated, as competent to
advise the authority about the protection of children from harm
And any other person prescribed by regulations by the Secretary of State.
DCMS - Department for Culture Media and Sport: www.culture.gov.uk
Gambling Commission: www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk
Torridge District Council: www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing

APPENDIX B

CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION AND TRAFFICKING OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG
PEOPLE
Torridge District Council is helping to tackle child sexual exploitation and trafficking by working
together with key partners particularly the Police and Safeguarding Boards.
Through agencies working together and sharing information, we aim to identify and prevent sexual
exploitation, disrupt the activities of perpetrators, protect children and young people and prosecute
perpetrators of sexual exploitation. Sharing information with the Police and Safeguarding Boards
helps to protect young people from harm. Safeguarding children and young people is everyone’s
business and everyone’s responsibility.
Child sexual exploitation is a crime that can affect any child, anytime, anywhere – regardless of
their social or ethnic background.
Sexual exploitation of children and young people involves exploitative situations, contexts and
relationships where young people (or a third person or persons) receive something, e.g. food,
accommodation, drugs, alcohol, cigarettes, affection, gifts, money, etc. as a result of them
performing, and/or another or others performing on them, sexual activities. Violence, coercion and
intimidation are commonly involved in such exploitative relationships.
Child sexual exploitation involves perpetrators grooming youngsters and using their powers to
sexually abuse them. Sexual exploitation of children and young people can take many forms,
whether it occurs through a seemingly ‘consensual’ relationship with an older boyfriend, or a young
person having sex in return for attention, gifts, alcohol or cigarettes.
How gambling premises licence and permit holders and their employees can help tackle
child sexual exploitation
Gambling establishment licence and permit holders and their employees are in a good position to
help identify victims of sexual exploitation because, through the operation of certain gambling
activities, licence and permit holders and their employees regularly come into contact with children,
young and vulnerable people. This means that licence and permit holders and their employees are
in an ideal position to help protect young and vulnerable people.
In particular, licence and permit holders and their employees should ask themselves the following
questions when they see young and vulnerable people in their gambling premises:
• Do any of your customers appear to be under 18 years old?

Page38 52

•
•
•

Are they with a much older person and appear to be in a relationship?
Do you think that they are under the influence of alcohol or drugs?
Are children/young people being brought regularly to your premises by older people? If so,
ask yourself why?

If you have reason to suspect that a child is being abused or at risk of abuse it is your responsibility
to report your concerns to and share information with the Police (Tel: 101) and Devon
Safeguarding Children Board. (Tel: 0345 155 1071).

Page
53
39

Agenda Item 10
REPORT OF

Public Health and Housing Manager

To:

Full Council

Subject:

Devon Carbon Plan and the outcome from the Citizens
Assembly

Date:

24th January 2022

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
1. To inform the group of the outcome of the Devon Climate Citizens‟ Assembly
2. To make members aware of new actions proposed for the Devon Carbon Plan
as a result of the Citizens Assembly
3. To request members agree that these new actions are put forward for inclusion
in the next public consultation document.
4. To request members note and endorse the additional comments from the
Climate Change Working Group.

1. Introduction
On the 1st of February 2021, TDC members endorsed Devon County Council‟s Interim
Carbon Plan.
This paper introduces draft actions to add to the Devon Interim Carbon Plan in
response to the Devon Climate Assembly. It seeks feedback from Local Authority
members on those actions prior to the public consultation on their final Carbon Plan
in March 2022.

2. The Devon Climate Assembly
The Devon Climate Assembly, a 70-strong representative panel of Devon‟s residents
met in June and July 2021 for 25 hours to deliberate three big issues for reaching
net-zero that were not resolved in the Interim Devon Carbon Plan. These issues
were:
1. What should be the role of onshore wind in the Devon renewable energy
strategy?
2. What needs to be done to encourage less car use in Devon?
3. What would be the best ways of encouraging, or requiring, people to retrofit
their homes, properties or business premises to reduce carbon emissions?
The Assembly generated recommendations to feed into the Devon Carbon
Plan. A report on the conclusions of the Assembly members was presented to the
Devon Climate Emergency partnership in October, and a briefing note circulated to
all Councillors.

3. Carbon Plan process
The Interim Devon Carbon Plan is online and was subject to public consultation in
December 2020. Partners have been broadly implementing the Interim Plan
alongside the Assembly proceedings. The Devon Climate Emergency partners are

Page 54

1

now developing actions that respond to the resolutions of the citizens‟ assembly, in
preparation for its public consultation in March 2022. Further amendments to the
actions will be made as required and incorporated into the Final Devon Carbon
Plan. Figure 1 illustrates the process.

Figure 1. The Carbon Plan Process

4. Consultation with partners so far
Initially the secretariat reviewed the resolutions and conditions developed by the
Assembly and developed a first draft of actions. The draft actions were cross
referenced with the Interim Plan, to avoid duplication where there were already
actions which would fulfil the recommendations of the Assembly
The draft actions were then reviewed and agreed by the Devon Climate Emergency
Tactical and Response Groups, in consultation with other officers.

5. Comments from Climate Change Working Group
This report was discussed at the Climate Change Working Group on 6 th January and
the following comments were made.

1. What should be the role of onshore wind in the Devon renewable energy
strategy?
a. Wind generation needs to be considered in our Local Plan Review.
b. Make community energy schemes easier, promote them more and
support communities in the process with benefits going to the local
area.
c. In terms of other renewables, we would like to see installation of solar
panels on roofs of large public, commercial and industrial roofs across
Devon. We would also like consideration to be given to micro
hydropower generation, such as seen in Germany.
2. What needs to be done to encourage less car use in Devon?
a. Emphasis on cycling is not strong enough;
b. Free travel schemes for some areas;
c. Aviation fuel should be taxed at same level as vehicle fuel;
d. Electric shuttle bus in all major cities/towns;
e. Incentive for employers to provide shuttle buses.
3. What would be the best ways of encouraging, or requiring, people to retrofit
their homes, properties or business premises to reduce carbon emissions?
a. Retrofit needs to be considered in our Local Plan Review.

Page 55

2

6. Draft actions
The draft of the actions responding to the Devon Climate Assembly can be found in
the Appendix to this report.

7. Next steps
The secretariat now seeks feedback from Local Authority members of the Devon
Climate Emergency partnership, prior to public consultation in March 2022. Unless
there is feedback which demands otherwise, preparations for the public consultation
will continue as follows:


23/11/2021 – 27/01/2022 Individual local authorities and partner organisations
consult with their members and senior staff on the draft actions



13/01/2022 – 17/02/2022 Secretariat and Tactical Group update actions
following consultation with councillors and senior representatives



17/02/2022 – 24/02/2022 Tactical Group sign off the actions and supporting
texts and recommends these to the Response Group for public consultation



24/02/2022 - 03/03/2022 Response Group sign off the texts for public
consultation



17/03/2022 – 14/04/2022 Consult public on the actions and supporting texts



14/4/2022 - 12/05/2022 Secretariat process responses from the consultation
to produce consultation report

8. Implications
Legal Implications
None
Financial Implications
While the Carbon Plan does not specify any specific investment required from
Torridge District Council it does highlight areas where financial impacts may
be seen in the future as we move towards our stated climate ambitions.
Human Resources Implications
NA
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
N/A
Equality/Diversity
N/A

Page 56

3

Risk Management
Climate change and our net-zero carbon commitment are included on our
Corporate Risk Register.
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
NA
Data Protection (GDPR) Implications
NA
Climate Change
This County‟s Carbon Plan complements and supports our goal of TDC being
a net zero organisation by 2030.
Lead Member Views – Cllr Hames
The Devon Climate Assembly has produced an excellent set of
recommended actions and in general I and my colleagues in the TDC Climate
Change Working Group support these actions and look forward to their
incorporation in the next public consultation on Devon‟s Carbon Plan.
8.

CONCLUSIONS
The proposed actions in Appendix 1 are an appropriate response to the
Citizens‟ Assembly and should be included in the next Devon Carbon Plan for
public consultation.

9.

RECOMMENDATIONS
1. That the results of the Citizens‟ Assembly be noted.
2. That Members agree the proposed actions in Appendix 1 are included in the
next public consultation.
3. That the additional comments of the Climate Change working group be
endorsed and raised with Devon County Council/ Local Plan Committee.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Consultations:

Lead Member for Climate – Cllr Hames

Contact Officer:

Jan Williams Public Health and Housing Manager

Background Papers:

None

Page 57

4

Appendix 1 - Turning the recommendations of the Devon Climate Assembly into
actions for consultation
Contents
1.

What should be the role of onshore wind in the Devon renewable energy strategy?................................................................................... 5

2.

What needs to be done to encourage less car use in Devon? ..................................................................................................................... 11

3. What would be the best ways of encouraging, or requiring, people to retrofit their homes, properties or business premises to reduce
carbon emissions?.................................................................................................................................................................................................... 18

1. What should be the role of onshore wind in the Devon renewable energy strategy?

Page 58

For this topic, the focus was essentially on what role, if any, should onshore wind turbines play in the mix of energy generation methods
deployed across Devon in order to meet the increased demand for electricity expected as we transition away from the use of fossil fuels. The
members were also explicitly asked to consider the subsidiary question: Are there any conditions or guarantees that need to be in place to
enhance public acceptability?
Assembly Resolutions
and Conditions
Resolution 1 In principle,
we support the
development of more
onshore wind turbines in
Devon.

% Support ID

Resolution 2 In principle,
we support reforming the
National Planning
Framework (resolution 2

Supported b)
by 87% of
members

Supported a)
by 89% of
members

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan (IDCP)
Action E1 in the Energy Supply
Chapter of the Interim Carbon Plan
proposes the development of an
energy strategy for Devon. A subaction (E1.1) is to update
assessments of the accessible
renewable energy resource available
in Devon.
The text in the Energy Supply chapter
of the IDCP identifies the issue but
doesn‟t propose an action.

Our Draft Response
The supporting text to action E1 in the plan will be
updated to state that wind will be included in the
assessments.

Proposed new action, Energy Supply: “Work with
government to amend national planning legislation to
make it more straightforward for onshore wind
developments to get planning consent.”
5

Page 59

Assembly Resolutions
and Conditions
continued) to remove the
requirement for
'complete' community
support from
development planning
applications for onshore
wind turbines.
Condition 1. That there
is good, clear, high
quality information &
education for
communities (from an
objective, trusted and
credible source) about
the need for action and
the crisis nature of
climate and energy
needs:
a) including putting
forward an
emergency local
plan identifying
potential sites and
the potential
benefits; and
b) providing practical
support for
affected
communities to
understand the
potential benefits,

% Support ID

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan (IDCP)

Our Draft Response

Agreed by
87% of
members.

The IDCP does not specifically
address this condition.

New action proposed, Cross Cutting Themes: “Provide
high quality, objective information and education for
communities about the need for renewable energy and
the crisis nature of the climate emergency.”

c)

d) The IDCP does not specifically
address this condition.

New action proposed, Energy Supply: “Identify potential
sites for renewable energy, informed by the emerging
Land Use Framework and environmental and social
sensitivities, and look to allocate these in Local Plans.”

e) The IDCP does not specifically
address this condition.

New action proposed, Energy Supply: “Provide practical
support for communities wishing to develop their own
energy infrastructure.”

6

Page 60

Assembly Resolutions
and Conditions
processes and
challenges.
Condition 2. That all
reasonable measures are
undertaken to minimise
potential negative
impacts on communities
(for example the risk of
impacts on house prices
due to the proximity to a
turbine) and wildlife in the
design and positioning of
a windfarm, and there are
opportunities built in for
people to raise and seek
redress for negative
effects, should they
occur, throughout the
lifetime of its operation.
Condition 3. That the
developments bring
lasting local financial,
economic, social and
environmental benefits,
with community
ownership and
Community Interest
Companies held
accountable for the
distribution of funds.

% Support ID

Condition 4. That
communities where sites

Agreed by
84% of

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan (IDCP)

Our Draft Response

Agreed by
87% of
members.

f) Action E1.1 says, “Update
assessments of the accessible
Renewable Energy resource
available in Devon.” This will exclude
sensitive social and environmental
features to minimise negative effects
in this initial exercise. The planning
system is designed to address
remaining effects.

None required due to existing provisions.

Agreed by
86% of
members.

g) The IDCP does not specifically
address this condition.

New action proposed, Energy Supply: “Local Plan
updates will look to include policies that, where
appropriate, give positive weight to renewable and low
carbon energy initiatives, which have clear evidence of
local community involvement and leadership.”
[wording reflects existing guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/communitybenefits-and-engagement-guidance-for-onshore-wind

h) The IDCP does not specifically
address this condition.

Going further than this would risk planning decisions
being overturned or Local Plans being unsound]
Incorporated into action e.

7

Page 61

Assembly Resolutions
and Conditions
are identified benefit from
them, and that they get
really good support to
engage and understand
the issues.
Condition 5. That
everyone across Devon
understands where wind
farms can be sited and
can easily access
information on potential
impacts on range of
conditions (including
mental health, wildlife,
economy) and the range
of potential benefits (e.g.
lower cost electricity,
reduced carbon
emissions and impacts
on climate change).
Condition 6. That the
majority are in community
ownership, with a
democratic process in
place to inform the early
stages of planning and
development (including
funding support at this
stage).
Condition 7. Onshore
wind farms are
developed where the
energy produced is most

% Support ID

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan (IDCP)

Our Draft Response

members.

Agreed by
84% of
members.

i) The IDCP does not specifically
address this condition.

Incorporated into action c.

Agreed by
84% of
members.

j) The IDCP does not specifically
address this condition.

Same as action g

Agreed by
84% of
members.

k) The IDCP does not specifically
address this condition.

Same as action d

8

Page 62

Assembly Resolutions
and Conditions
needed (e.g. near
industrial areas where it
can be easily connected
to the grid) and that the
location of developments
is considered in a way
that is integrated with
other wider
considerations for Devon,
such as the need for a
mix of energy production,
land use and respect for
areas of outstanding
natural beauty.
Condition 8. That
planning structures are
streamlined and operate
in favour of community
ownership, where profits
are reinvested by and for
the community.
Condition 9. That energy
is not considered in
isolation, but alongside
consideration of the
space available for other
land use development
(housing, roads,
agriculture, business,
industry, schools,
sewers) within local
planning process and
strategic planning.

% Support ID

Agreed by
80% of
members

Agreed by
80% of
members.

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan (IDCP)

l) The IDCP does not specifically
address this condition.

m) The IDCP proposes the development
of a Land Use Framework to help
resolve this issue.

Our Draft Response

Incorporated into action g

Incorporated into action d

9

Assembly Resolutions
and Conditions
Condition 10. That the
development planning
process is sped up and
ensures dialogue with
communities is a
continuing part of this.

% Support ID

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan (IDCP)
n) The IDCP does not specifically
address this condition.

Our Draft Response

Agreed by
78% of
members.

Incorporated into actions b and g

Page 63
10

2. What needs to be done to encourage less car use in Devon?
For this topic, the discussions started from a position that there was a need to reduce overall the use of private vehicles in Devon to have a
significant impact on emissions from travel, and that one way of encouraging this was by making car use less attractive. This was encapsulated
in the subsidiary question the members were asked to consider: How can reducing road capacity and financial „carrots and sticks‟ help to make
car use less attractive and reduce traffic levels / emissions while maintaining mobility?

Page 64

Resolution

% Support

Resolution 1 In principle,
we support the ambition in
the Interim Devon Carbon
Plan to reduce traffic
emissions across Devon by
making car use less
attractive, while maintaining
mobility.

Supported
by 74% of
members

Ref

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan
o) The opening sections of the Transport
chapter of the IDCP explains how
emissions from road transport can be
reduced and highlights the needs of
people to continue to access services,
particularly in rural communities.

Our Draft Response
We will introduce a new goal within the
Transport chapter or the Devon Carbon Plan:
“Traffic emissions are reduced across Devon
by providing reliable, regular, affordable and
integrated alternatives to private car use in
combination with measures to make car use
less attractive.”

Our support for ambitions to reduce emissions by making car use less attractive would increase with the condition…
Condition 1.1 That there is
Agreed by
q) The IDCP has a number of actions to
We will incorporate into the supporting text of
89% of
widespread investment in
improve the provision and investment in the Transport chapter in the IDCP that the
members.
ensuring that there is a
active and public travel.
assembly has said that significant progress
better public and active
should be made on the active and public
transport infrastructure
transport provision before proposals to
across Devon that can be
discourage car use are introduced. This will
used as a reliable, regular,
guide future transport policy and
affordable and integrated
infrastructure decisions but there may be
alternative, and that
circumstances where proposals to
significant progress is made
discourage car use are deemed necessary to
on this before the wider
raise funds to put the active and public
implementation of proposals
transport measures in place.
to discourage car use.

11

Page 65

Resolution

% Support

Ref

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan
r) The IDCP does not specifically address
this condition.

Our Draft Response

Condition 1.2 That there is
an independent authority put
in place to oversee and
ensure accountability in the
collection of resources
generated by any charging
schemes to ensure they are
allocated towards public and
active travel improvements
(and other road emission
reduction schemes) and that
their findings are regularly
reported.

Agreed by
74% of
members.

Resolution 2 We recognise
that there will likely always
be a need for private car use
in Devon, particularly in rural
areas of the county, and
support the initiatives
included in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan to help
minimise the emissions
these cause by investing in
the infrastructure to support
the increased use of electric
vehicles.

Supported
by 92% of
members

s) The IDCP includes various actions to
support the electrification of transport.

None required

Resolution 3 In principle,
we support taking measures

Supported
by 74% of

t) The IDCP already includes the following
action: “T5. Review opportunities to

None required.

No action proposed.
The revenue from on-street parking charging
is ring-fenced for transport purposes under
the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984.
Off-street car parking revenue is used to fund
the provision of council services which would
otherwise require council tax increases.
The finances of local authorities are
published and are subject to review through
formal Overview and Scrutiny processes and
independent, external audit – a requirement
of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014.

12

Resolution

% Support

members
to reduce the road space
available to cars and
reallocate it to active and
public travel modes in Devon

Ref

Page 66

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan
reallocate road capacity to sustainable
modes (walking, cycling and public
transport), particularly where it can
support other objectives (i.e. urban
centre regeneration, street cafes).”
u) The Transport Chapter of the Plan
contains a Goal to ensure “Our streets
are safe for all and cycling, walking,
shared and public transport are
prioritised”.

Our Draft Response

Update existing action in the Transport
Chapter, T33 to say: “Modernise and create
car parks at strategic points to encourage car
sharing and onward journeys by active travel
or public transport.
None required.

Condition 3.1 That priority
is given to making sure that
you can still travel cheaply
around Devon, in a similar
time to now, via active
travel/public transport.

Agreed by
88% of
members.

Condition 3.2 That there is
the provision of more
modern and effective park
and ride facilities.

Agreed by
83% of
members.

v) The IDCP already includes the following
action: “T33. Create nodal car parks at
strategic points to encourage onward
car sharing.”

Condition 3.3 That proper
cycling infrastructure is
created across the county.

Agreed by
80% of
members.

w) The IDCP already includes the following
actions: “T6. Develop local cycling and
walking infrastructure plans with
communities.” [updated version of T6
following consultation]

Update this goal to:
“Our streets are safe for all and using active,
shared and public transport is efficient and
affordable”

“T7 Improve strategic cycle routes
within and between settlements.”
“T9 Where possible, design pavements
and junctions to prioritise pedestrians and
cyclists over vehicular traffic.”
Condition 3.4 That there is
differentiation in public
transport fares depending on

Agreed by
68% of
members.

x) The IDCP does not specifically address
this condition.

Proposed new action, Transport: “Explore
opportunities to set fares to support equal
opportunities to access mobility for all”
13

Resolution

% Support

Ref

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan

Our Draft Response

user categories (e.g.
discounted fares for
residents and/or means
tested travel passes).

Page 67

Condition 3.5 That Devon
investigates introducing a
Tourist Levy: where the tax
on tourists visiting is
allocated to the local
community to fund initiatives
to reduce carbon emissions.

Agreed by
68% of
members.

y) The IDCP does not specifically address
this condition.

Proposed new action, Transport: “Investigate
the concept and mechanisms of a Tourist
Levy to enable the tourism sector to consider
how visitors can contribute to the transition to
net-zero.”

Resolution 4 We recognise
that there is the need to
introduce some „financial
sticks‟, like parking charges,
congestion charges and
parking levies in order to
help fund the provision of
wider improvements, „the
carrots‟, that will help reduce
emissions while maintaining
mobility across Devon.

Not
supported
by the
majority of
members
(only 50%
support
achieved).

z) The IDCP identifies the issue but
doesn‟t propose an action.

No action proposed as not supported by CA
unless the partnership strongly feel that this
should be considered.

Resolution 5 In principle,
we support taking measures
to reduce space available for
parking and introduce
parking charges in areas
across Devon.

Not
supported
by the
majority of
members
(only 46%
support
achieved).

Aa) The IDCP identifies the issue but
doesn‟t propose an action.

No action proposed as not supported by CA
unless the partnership strongly feel that this
should be considered.

14

Resolution

% Support

Condition 5.1 That parking
charges are ringfenced and
reinvested in the public
transport network to reduce
the public's resistance to
paying parking fees.

Agreed by
75% of
members.

Ref

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan

Ab) The IDCP identifies the issue but
doesn‟t propose an action.

Our Draft Response

No action proposed.
The revenue from on-street parking charging
is ring-fenced for transport purposes under
the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984.

Page 68

Condition 5.2 That there
are differentiated parking
charges based on:
a) type of vehicles
(electric /
polluting); and
b) users' needs (e.g.
essential work
use, people with
limited mobility)

Agreed by
66% of
members.

Ac) The IDCP identifies the issue but
doesn‟t propose an action.

Resolution 6 In principle,
we support the introduction
of workplace parking levies
in areas across Devon

Not
supported
by the
majority of
members
(only 45%
support
achieved).

Ad) The IDCP identifies the issue but
doesn‟t propose an action.

Our support for workplace parking levies would increase with the condition...
Condition 6.1 That money
Agreed by
Ae) The IDCP identifies the issue but

Off-street car parking revenue is used to fund
the provision of council services which would
otherwise require council tax increases.
No action proposed. Early feedback indicated
that the initially proposed additional action
was not feasible and would not achieve the
desired outcomes.

New action in the Transport section:
'Employers to be encouraged to make
commuting by active, shared and public
transport more attractive'.

No action required.
15

Page 69

Resolution

% Support

Ref

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan
doesn‟t propose an action.

Our Draft Response

gained from Workplace
Parking Levies is spent on
supporting public transport
routes, or viable alternatives
for employees, including
employers providing shuttle
busses for workers or paying
for bike hubs and shower
facilities at workplaces.

75% of
members.

Condition 6.2 That it only
applies to businesses with a
certain level of turnover
and/or a certain number of
staff (level to be determined
based on learning from
successful models
elsewhere).

Agreed by
71% of
members.

Af) The IDCP identifies the issue but
doesn‟t propose an action.

No action required.

Condition 6.3 That it is the
employer who pays and the
cost cannot be passed on to
the employee.

Agreed by
68% of
members.

Ag) The IDCP identifies the issue but
doesn‟t propose an action.

No action required.

Resolution 7 In principle,
we support introducing
congestion charges and low
emission zones in areas
across Devon.

Supported
by 62% of
members

Ah) The IDCP identifies the issue but
doesn‟t propose an action.

Proposed new action, Transport chapter:
“Review the potential for the introduction of
congestion charges and low emission zones
in appropriate areas across Devon on a
place-by-place basis, giving consideration to
local impacts and likely effectiveness.”
Our support for congestion charges and low emission zones would increase with the condition...
Condition 7.1 That they
Agreed by
Ai) The IDCP identifies the issue but
Incorporated into action Ah) above.
84% of
won't be introduced as a
doesn‟t propose an action.
16

Resolution

% Support

'one size fits all' approach for
all areas of the county and
groups of people.

members.

Condition 7.2 That there is
careful consideration, and
review, of the economic
impact on the area.

Agreed by
76% of
members.

Ref

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan

Aj) The IDCP identifies the issue but
doesn‟t propose an action.

Our Draft Response

Incorporated into action Ah) above.

Page 70
17

3. What would be the best ways of encouraging, or requiring, people to retrofit their homes, properties or business
premises to reduce carbon emissions?
There were two key aspects of this topic that members were asked to focus on:
a) The information, advice, support and incentives that the public would need to motivate, and enable, them to undertake retrofitting work
on their properties; and
b) The acceptability of using local council powers to require retrofitting activities to reduce emissions from buildings.

Page 71

Resolution

% Support

Resolution 1 We believe
that the existing financial
supports available across
Devon are not effective for
encouraging people to
undertake the degree of
retrofitting work in their
properties that will be
required to meet net zero
targets.

Supported
by 94% of
members

Resolution 2 In principle, we Supported
support there being financial by 93% of
members
support available for people
to retrofit properties across
Devon.

Ref

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan
Ak) The IDCP identifies the issue but doesn‟t
propose an action.

Our Draft Response

Al) The Built Environment chapter of the
IDCP already includes the following
actions:
“B3 Explore opportunities to use the
carbon offset market to fund the retrofit of
domestic and commercial buildings”

Replace B3 with: “Explore opportunities
to enhance financial support available for
people to retrofit their properties.”

Covered by proposed action AI) below

B4 remains.

“B4 Work with government to achieve
VAT breaks on
retrofit activity and products.”
We believe the implementation of packages to support people to retrofit their properties would be strengthened by the following…
18

Resolution

% Support

Supporting
Agreed by
Recommendation 2.1 There 94% of
members.
needs to be more
accountability and reporting
regarding government
expenditure on retrofitting,
with ongoing progress
reports that show the money
spent and progress towards
meeting targets.

Page 72

Supporting
Recommendation 2.2 There Agreed by
93% of
needs to be widespread
members.
education and awareness
raising about:
a ) the climate emergency;
b) what actions authorities
are taking; and
c) what people can do to
retrofit and improve energy
efficiency and what impact
that will have.

Ref
Am)

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan
Progress towards targets is already
recorded by these indicators in the IDCP:
“Number of Devon‟s homes with an
Energy Performance Certificate of D – G”
And

“Number of Devon‟s commercial
premises with an Energy Performance
Certificate of D – G”
An) Part B is already delivered through the
Devon Climate Emergency
communication channels resourced by a
full-time communications officer and new
staff resources in the partner
organisations.

Our Draft Response
No proposed for this. Instead, the
monitoring indicators for the Carbon Plan
will be updated to include indicators for:
“Amount of funding spent through
dedicated public grants on domestic
retrofitting in Devon”.
“Amount of funding spent through
dedicated public grants on commercial
retrofitting in Devon”
Part A of this supporting recommendation
is covered by proposed action C) above
“Ensure access to high quality, objective
information & education for communities
about the need for action and the crisis
nature of the climate emergency.”

Part C is already included in the Built
Environment Chapter of the IDCP by
these actions:
“B5 Sell the co-benefits of living in warm,
net-zero ready homes through
awareness-raising campaigns and openhome events.”
“B6 Establish a Devon-wide energy
advice service that links home-owners,
landlords and tenants with independent
energy assessors, skilled installers and
market offers.”

19

Resolution

% Support

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan
Ao) The IDCP already includes the following
action:
“B6 Establish a Devon-wide energy
advice service that links home-owners,
landlords and tenants with independent
energy assessors, skilled installers and
market offers.”

Our Draft Response

Supporting
Agreed by
Recommendation 2.4 There 93% of
members.
needs to be personalised
advice available about
options for your home and
any financial support you are
eligible for.

Ap) The IDCP already includes the following
action:
“B6 Establish a Devon-wide energy
advice service that links home-owners,
landlords and tenants with independent
energy assessors, skilled installers and
market offers.”

No action required.

Supporting
Recommendation 2.5 All
authorities need to
demonstrate ambition and
allocate significant budget to
retrofitting.

Aq) Ambition is demonstrated in the IDCP by
this action:

Local authorities don’t have existing
resources for retrofitting, so we will need
to work with government on this.
Therefore, this is addressed by proposed
action AI above:

Supporting
Agreed by
Recommendation 2.3 There 93% of
members.
needs to be a centralised,
Devon based, source of
high-quality information
regarding measures that can
be taken on properties and
the types of support
available to people to
undertake them.

Page 73

Supporting

Agreed by
92% of
members.

Agreed by

Ref

“B11 South West to promote its status to
government
as the leading region on low-carbon
buildings,
including embodied carbon, founded on
the
low-carbon buildings already here and
anchor
institutions‟ commitments to zero-carbon,
nature-friendly new build and retrofit.”
Ar) The IDCP already includes the following

No action required.

“Explore opportunities to enhance
financial support available for people to
retrofit their properties”

Proposed new action, Economy and
20

Resolution

% Support

Recommendation 2.6 More
focus needs to be given to
ensuring the availability of
green mortgages.

72% of
members.

Supported
Resolution 3 In principle, we by 62% of
support the use of regulation members
to require people to retrofit
their home.

Ref

As)

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan
action:
“R31 Provide the South West Mutual with
start-up funding”

Our Draft Response

The IDCP identifies the issue but doesn‟t
propose an action.

Proposed new actions, Built
Environment: “Evaluate in more detail the
opportunity to use planning conditions to
require energy-efficiency upgrades at the
time of extending a home, and any other
local opportunities that arise.”

Resources: “Work with government to
enhance the availability and awareness
of green mortgages.”

Page 74

AND

At)

“Work with government to explore
additional mechanisms to require energyefficiency upgrades.”

[The only example we are aware of about
local authorities using regulation to
require people to retrofit their homes is
through the use of planning conditions.
This is the example the Assembly heard
about. Here‟s the presentation. require
minimum EPC ratings at the point of sale,
as it already does for lettings. ]
Our support for regulation to require people to undertake retrofitting would increase with the condition...
Condition 3.1 That there is
Agreed by
Au) The Built Environment Chapter in the
This will be described in the supporting
89%
of
recognition that buildings are
IDCP identifies the issue but doesn‟t
text for action At, with the caveat that
members.
not all the same. The
propose an action specifically relating to
such schemes should also be means
requirement, and any
this condition.
tested if they are to contribute to a just
support to do it, needs to be
transition.
targeted so the poorest rated
21

Resolution

% Support

Ref

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan

Our Draft Response

buildings are done first.

Page 75

Condition 3.2 That
affordability is taken into
account.

Agreed by
88% of
members.

Condition 3.3 That VAT is
removed from specialist
items used for retrofitting.

Agreed by
82% of
members.

Condition 3.4 That DIY is
encouraged, with experts
then able to undertake an
assessment of impacts and
approve reduced tax rates.

Agreed by
66% of
members.

Resolution 4 In principle, we Supported
by 84% of
support introducing policies
members
in Devon that use planning
permission to trigger the
need for retrofitting
measures.

Av) Principle 9a of the IDCP says:

Update Principle 9a to say:

“A just transition is required to ensure
that vulnerable and low-income
segments of society and rural
communities are not
disadvantaged.”
Aw) The IDCP already includes the following
action:
“B4 Work with government to achieve
VAT breaks on retrofit activity and
products.”
Ax) The IDCP does not address this specific
condition, however, it does propose an
energy advice service:

“A just and affordable transition is
required to ensure that vulnerable and
low-income segments of society and rural
communities are not
disadvantaged.”
None required

“B6. Establish a Devon-wide energy
advice service that links home-owners,
landlords and tenants with independent
assessors, skilled installers and market
offers.”
Ay) The IDCP identifies the issue but doesn‟t
propose an action.

Update action B6 in the Built
Environment chapter of the IDCP to say:
“B6. Establish a Devon-wide energy
advice service that links home-owners,
landlords and tenants with DIY guidance,
independent assessors, skilled installers
and market offers.”
Implemented by proposed action As

Our support for using planning permission as a trigger for requiring retrofitting would increase with the condition...
Condition 4.1 That
Agreed by
Az) The IDCP identifies the issue but doesn‟t Conservatories will be mentioned in the
76%
of
conservatories and permitted
propose an action.
supporting text for Action As
22

Resolution

% Support

buildings should be included.

members.

Ref

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan

Our Draft Response

Page 76

Condition 4.2 That the
extent of retrofitting required
by the planning permission
would be in proportion to the
size of the house and
extension.

Agreed by
75% of
members.

Ba) The IDCP identifies the issue but doesn‟t
propose an action.

Permitted buildings by definition do not
need planning permission and so could
not be covered by this mechanism.
This will be mentioned in the supporting
text for Action As

Condition 4.3 That the
energy consumption of the
whole property needs to be
reduced, in proportion to the
size of the extension /
alteration.

Agreed by
73% of
members.

Bb) The IDCP identifies the issue but doesn‟t
propose an action.

This will be mentioned in the supporting
text for Action As

Resolution 5 In principle, we Supported
by 71% of
support introducing policies
in Devon that link Council tax members
and business rates to energy
efficiency performance.

Bc)

The IDCP identifies the issue but doesn‟t
propose an action.

New action proposed, Built Environment:
“Work with government to continue
exploring the use of Council Tax and
Business Rates to encourage energy
efficiency upgrades of buildings.”

[Law changes are required for this to
occur.]
Our support for linking a property's energy efficiency to the level of council tax and business rates paid would increase with the
condition...
Condition 5.1 That there is
Agreed by
Bd) The IDCP already includes the following
No action required
also a requirement on private 85% of
action:
landlords and social housing members.
“B9 Work with government to review The
providers to bring properties
Domestic Minimum Energy Efficiency
up to a minimum level of
Standard Regulations to make it more
23

Resolution

% Support

Ref

energy efficiency.
Condition 5.2 That there is
a simple and consistent way
for the effect of energy
efficiency improvements to
be verified by the Council
before discounts are applied.

Page 77

Condition 5.3 That Councils
promote widely the
opportunity to benefit from
reductions in Council tax and
business rates by increasing
the energy efficiency of your
property.

Existing Response in the Interim
Devon Carbon Plan
effective and practical for local authorities
to enforce non-compliance.”
The IDCP identifies the issue but doesn‟t
propose an action.

Agreed by
75% of
members.

Be)

Agreed by
72% of
members.

Bf) The IDCP identifies the issue but doesn‟t
propose an action.

Our Draft Response

This would be intrinsic to the operation of
a successful scheme. This requirement
will be mentioned in the supporting text
for action Bc.

This would be implemented by the Devon
Energy Efficiency Advice Service if it
were deemed appropriate after being
explored further with government.

A further breakdown of the voting results, and the supporting statements prepared by members for each condition, can be found in the main
body of the Devon Climate Assembly report.

24

Agenda Item 11
REPORT OF

Leader & Chief Executive

To:

Full Council

Subject:

Housing Provision – Update Report

Date:

29 January 2022

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
For Members to receive an update Report on the Provision of Housing Project and to request match
funding to help progress the Project further.

1.

INTRODUCTION
Members will recall that in relation to the action in the Council‟s Strategic Plan to “Investigate
the feasibility of becoming a direct housing provider” an Options Report was presented to
Full Council on the 1 November 2021.

2.

REPORT
Following discussion on the Options Report at the Full Council meeting on the 1 November
2021 members unanimously agreed to instruct officers:


Review the process of viability assessment at Planning stage of planning applications
that are submitted with less than policy compliant affordable housing provision.



Undertake an assessment of land and buildings in the Council‟s ownership and score
with a site assessment tool the likelihood of a site being deliverable for housing and rank
sites accordingly.



Investigate funding opportunities to help with housing delivery i.e., from One Public
Estate and Homes England.



Arrange a Strategic session with Councillors using the results of the above
recommendations to develop a „Strategic Housing Delivery Plan‟ with an agreed model
for delivery and our preferred partner(s).

As an update for Members on this project a high-level Action Plan has been drafted to
ensure the delivery of this strategic priority. The Action Plan includes the following:







Commenced the Review Process of Non-Compliant applications
Affordable Housing SPD being drafted
Independent Viability assessments are now appended to Plans Committee reports
Strategic Viability Assessment added to the review of the Local Plan workplan
The Head of Communities and Place has held initial discussions with Homes
England, and these will be progressed further as this project develops.
A meeting has been held with Teignbridge District Council to establish any learnings
and best practice as they have started the provision of their own housing

Page 78






ARK consultancy has been contacted regarding their site assessment tool as have
Mid Devon Council who are developing a tool in partnership with the LGA.
We have commenced the review of our land holdings to establish a shortlist of
potential sites. Once this has been completed a Councillor Workshop will be held to
agree sites for full assessment.
We have obtained GIS layers of all Torridge land and buildings registered with the
Land Registry.
A list of potential partners is being drafted for the Leader and Chief Executive to
make initial contact.

This strategic priority has no agreed budget and requires a resource pot to enable some of
the key actions to be delivered. At the end of 2021 Officers were successful in a bid to the
Local Government Association‟s Housing Advisor Programme and have received a £25k
grant to contribute to this resource pot. We are now seeking match funding from Full Council
to ensure that sufficient funds are available, and actions can be completed within a
satisfactory timescale.
3.

IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications
Partially covered in the initial Options Report more details will need to be covered once a
delivery model has been agreed.
Financial Implications
This will need to be covered in detail once a delivery model and next steps are agreed
however a £25k grant has been obtained from the LGA and members are requested to
consider match funding this grant with a further £25k to establish a resource pot to help
deliver this project as there is currently no budget for this work.
Human Resources Implications
Resources to deliver will need to be agreed once a delivery model and next steps are
agreed.
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
Partially covered in the initial Options Report and more details will be covered once a
delivery model has been agreed.
Equality/Diversity
Not applicable
Risk Management
This will need to be assessed in detail once a delivery model and next steps are agreed.
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
This report in is in accordance with the action of “Investigate the feasibility of becoming a
direct housing provider” within the Council‟s Strategic Plan.
Data Protection (GDPR) Implications
No personal information
Climate Change
Included in the initial Options Report and further details will be developed once a delivery
model has been agreed.

Page 79

Leader Views - Councillor Ken James
Members will see that a lot of work is being done to build on the Full Council decision of the
1 November to “Investigate the feasibility of becoming a direct housing provider”. There is
no quick solution to this issue, and we need to go through the right steps to get to where we
want to be. I‟m really pleased that we have been successful in obtaining a £25k grant from
the LGA and I would support us match funding this to ensure we have the resources and
expertise to assist us progress this work.
4.

CONCLUSIONS
This is an update for Councillors to show that the project is progressing and that we were
successful in obtaining a £25k grant from the LGA‟s Housing Advisors Programme and as
there is currently no other Council budget for this project work Members are asked to
consider match funding this grant with a further £25k to establish a resource pot to help
deliver this project.

5.

RECOMMENDATIONS
Members are recommended to:


Note the content of this report



Allocate £25,000 (match funding of the LGA Housing Advisor Programme Grant) to
establish a resource budget to help progress this project further.

Page 80

Agenda Item 12
REPORT OF

Head of Legal and Governance (& Monitoring Officer)

To:

Full Council

Subject:

Constitution Update 2022

Date:

31st January 2022

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
To seek Full Council’s approval for updates to the Constitution.

1.

INTRODUCTION
It is proposed that the Council’s Constitution should be updated to take account of various
changes and proposed amendments identified since it was last issued. The Monitoring
Officer role includes monitoring the Constitution and making recommendations for ways it
could be improved to better achieve the purposes the Constitution is intended to achieve.
These recommendations may arise from observations during Committee meetings,
discussions with Officers and Members, comparison with other local authorities and
recognised best practice.

2.

REPORT
This report proposes some changes to the Council’s Constitution which are summarised
below:
a) Joint Planning Policy Committee
Full Council on 5th October 2021 unanimously agreed to the formation of a Joint Planning
Policy Committee in accordance with the Agreement for a Joint Planning Policy
Committee. The proposed amendment to Part 1 – Summary & Explanation has been
reproduced in Appendix A to this report. All proposed changes have been identified with
track changes.
Appendix B to this report is the Terms of Reference for the Joint Planning Policy
Committee to be added to Part 3 Chapter 1 of the Council’s Constitution.
b) Harbour Board Working Group
Full Council on 1st November unanimously agreed to the appointment of three non elected representatives to the Harbour Board Working Group. Appendix C to this report
is the updated Terms of Reference for the Harbour Board Working Group to be added to
Part 3 Chapter 1 of the Council’s Constitution.
c) Standards Committee
Full Council on 2nd August agreed to increase the number of Independent Persons
allowed to sit on the Standards Committee to 3. Appendix D to this report is the
updated Terms of Reference for the Standards Committee. All proposed changes have
been identified with track changes.

Page 81

3.

IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications
Non-administrative changes to the Constitution need to be approved by Full Council.
Financial Implications
N/A
Human Resources Implications
N/A
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
N/A
Equality/Diversity
The Constitution should incorporate relevant legal and good practice requirements.
Risk Management
N/A
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
Compliance with the Constitution
Data Protection (GDPR) Implications
N/A
Climate Change
N/A
Ward Member and Lead Member Views

4.

CONCLUSIONS
This report is intended to summarise a series of amendments necessary to ensure the
Councils Constitution is kept up to date.

5.

RECOMMENDATIONS
It is recommended that Full Council adopt the following changes to the Council’s
Constitution:
a) Include Joint Planning Policy Committee within Part 1 Summary & Explanation
(Appendix A)
b) Joint Planning Policy Committee Terms of Reference to be added to Part 3 Chapter 1
(Appendix B)
c) Harbour Board Terms of Reference to be added to Part 3 Chapter 1 (Appendix C)
d) To update the Standards Committee Terms of Reference (Appendix D)

Page 82

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Consultations:

Chief Executive
Head of Communities & Place

Contact Officer:

Head of Legal & Governance & Monitoring Officer: Staci Dorey

Background Papers:

The Council’s Constitution

Page 83

PART 1
Summary and Explanation
Torridge District Council occupies an area of 380 square miles in the north of the County
of Devon bordering North Devon District Council to the East, the County of Cornwall to
the South West, and West Devon Borough Council to the South East. It is named after
the River that flows through the District reaching the sea at Bideford. The Office for
National Statistics estimates that Torridge has a total population of 68,267, with a
recorded 32,992 households on the Council Tax Register in 2020.
In accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 2000, the Council
reviewed the four models available for alternative democratic delivery in line with the
Government Guidance and carried out an extensive and wide-ranging consultation. The
consultation reflected all four alternatives available without bias, and the outcome was a
clear preference for the fourth option, a non-executive form of Constitution with a
modernised Committee structure involving a eight main committees.
Climate Change
Torridge District Council has taken action to reduce its own carbon footprint and the
wider collaborative activities that we are involved with in at the current time.
Torridge has declared a Climate Emergency and has committed to making the Council
carbon neutral by 2030 as part of a Devon-Wide Carbon Reduction Plan.
GDPR/Data Protection
For GDPR/Data Protection matters please visit The Torridge District Council Website at
www.torridge.gov.uk/article/11553/Data-Controller-and-Data-Protection-Officer or email
dpo@torridge.gov.uk
The Council has established the Community & Resources Committee as its main
decision making committee. This Committee acts as a parent to a number of subgroups.
In addition, the Council operates the following committees: Overview & Scrutiny Committees (one internal and one external)
Audit & Governance Committee
Plans Committee
Licensing Committee
Standards Committee
Joint Crematorium Committee
Joint Planning Policy Committee
Harbour Board
Climate Change Working Group

Page 84

Overview & Scrutiny Committees
The Council has appointed two Overview & Scrutiny Committees, an Internal Overview
& Scrutiny Committee and an External Overview & Scrutiny Committee.
The Internal Overview & Scrutiny Committee has the power to review the policies of the
Council and its objectives, and is entitled to ‘call in’ decisions made by the Community &
Resources Committee which are not yet implemented. They can also recommend that
the Community & Resources Committee reconsider such a decision. Issues that remain
unresolved will be referred to the Full Council for determination.
The External Overview & Scrutiny Committee has the same terms of reference as the
Internal Overview & Scrutiny Committee, but scrutinises the performance of external
public sector bodies operating within Torridge.
The Council remains committed to its current policy of involving the community in its
decision making process and includes community representation on both Overview &
Scrutiny Committees.
Audit & Governance Committee
The Council has appointed an Audit & Governance Committee. Amongst other things,
this Committee monitors and reviews the Council’s risk management framework and
provides independent scrutiny of the Council’s financial and non-financial performance.
Plans Committee
The Council’s planning function is supported by the Plans Committee responsible for the
regulatory responsibilities of the Council including development control and enforcement.
Licensing Committee
The Council’s licensing function is supported by a Licensing Committee who meet every
6 weeks, to carry out the functions of the Council as Licensing Authority.
Standards Committee
The Council operates a robust and effective complaints procedure and there is an
opportunity to complain to the Standards Committee, where appropriate.
Joint Crematorium Committee
This Committee operates jointly with North Devon Council and manages the operation of
the North Devon Crematorium in Barnstaple.

Page 85

Joint Planning Policy Committee
This Committee operates jointly with North Devon Council to review and update the
North Devon & Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031.
All of the Council’s committees carry out their business in public except where the items
to be discussed are confidential under the provisions of the Local Government Act 1972.
Climate Change Working Group
The Torridge Climate Emergency Working Group provides strategic direction and
oversight in order to achieve Torridge District Council’s target of carbon neutrality by
2030. The Climate Change Working Group makes recommendations to the Council’s
Community and Resources Committee.
For details of Torridge District Council’s Committees including Agendas and Minutes
please visit https://democracy.torridge.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1

Page 86

Page 87

Terms of Reference of the Joint Planning Policy Committee
1.

Each of the Partner Authorities shall appoint seven members (being elected
members of that Partner Authority) as its nominated members of the Joint
Committee. The members appointed shall have full voting rights. The
members appointed must include:

1.1

the Leader of each Partner Authority; and

1.2

Lead Members for Economy, Environment, Climate, Planning, Housing and
Community or such other members from TDC as TDC shall consider
appropriate with the equivalent or such other members from NDDC as
NDDC shall consider appropriate.

2.

Each Partner Authority may nominate one or more substitute members to
attend any meeting in place of an appointed member from that Partner
Authority and notification being given to the Lead Authority responsible for
governance and secretarial Support Services, before the start of the
meeting. The member appointed as a substitute shall have full voting rights
where the member for whom they are substituting does not attend. If all of a
Partner Authority’s nominated members attend a meeting of the Joint
Committee, any named substitute may also attend as an observer but shall
not be entitled to vote.

3.

Each member of the Joint Committee shall comply with the Code of Conduct
of their Partner Authority when acting as a member of the Joint Committee.

4.

Each of the Partner Authorities may remove any of its nominated members
or substitute members of the Joint Committee and appoint a different
member or substitute to the Joint Committee by giving written notice to the
Lead Authority for governance and secretarial Support Services.

5.

Each Partner Authority shall have seven votes. These shall be exercised by
the nominated members who are elected members of the Partner Authority.
In the absence of a Partner Authority’s nominated member, a vote may be
exercised by the named substitute who is an elected member of the Partner
Authority.

6.

Each member of the Joint Committee shall serve upon the Joint Committee
for as long as he or she is appointed to the Joint Committee by the relevant
Partner Authority but a member shall cease to be a member of the Joint
Committee if he or she ceases to be a member of the Partner Authority
appointing him or her as a member of the Joint Committee.

7.

Any casual vacancies howsoever arising shall be filled by the Partner
Authority from which the vacancy arises by notice in writing sent to the Lead
Authority for governance and secretarial Support Services.

8.

Meetings of the Joint Committee shall be held at the offices of the member
appointed as chairperson, unless otherwise agreed by the Joint Committee.

Page1 88

9.

The Partner Authority hosting the first meeting shall appoint one of its
nominated members as chairperson and that member shall remain
chairperson until the first meeting taking place after the elapse of one year
from the time of his or her appointment unless he or she ceases to be a
member of the Joint Committee. On the expiry of the first chairperson’s term
of office as chairperson, the Partner Authority which did not appoint the first
chairperson shall appoint one of its nominated members as chairperson for a
period of one year from the time of his or her appointment. The same
procedure shall be followed for the appointment of chairperson in
subsequent years.

10.

The Partner Authority which has not appointed the chairperson of the Joint
Committee in any year shall appoint one of its nominated members as vice
chairperson.

11.

The Joint Committee shall meet once every quarter unless otherwise
determined by the Joint Committee.

12.

The Lead Authority for governance and secretarial Support Services may call
additional meetings by providing at least five clear days’ notice to members
of the Joint Committee, for the purposes of resolving urgent matters arising
between the bi-monthly meetings of the Joint Committee. The Lead
Authority for governance and secretarial Support Services must call a
meeting of the Joint Committee if at least five members of the Joint
Committee from each Partner Authority requests it or if the Chief Executive
of both Partner Authorities requests it.

13.

Meetings shall be notified to members of the Joint Committee by the Lead
Authority for governance and secretarial Support Services.

14.

The Lead Authority for governance and secretarial Support Services shall
publish the agenda for each meeting of the Joint Committee no later than
five clear Working Days before the date of the relevant meeting.

15.

The Lead Authority for governance and secretarial Support Services shall
send, electronically, to all members and relevant officers of each Partner
Authority, the agenda for each meeting of the Joint Committee no later than
five clear Working Days before the date of the relevant meeting.

16.

The Lead Authority for governance and secretarial Support Services shall
arrange for written minutes to be taken of each meeting of the Joint
Committee and shall arrange for an officer to present them to the Joint
Committee at its next meeting for approval as a correct record. If the Joint
Committee confirms that the minutes contain an accurate record of the
previous meeting, those minutes shall be signed by the chairperson and vice
chairperson.

17.

Meetings of the Joint Committee will commence at 10.00am unless
otherwise agreed by the Joint Committee. Meetings of the Joint Committee
shall end no later than 1.00pm unless otherwise agreed by the Joint
Committee.

Page
2 89

18.

A meeting of the Joint Committee shall require a quorum of seven members
with a minimum of three members, who are entitled to attend and vote,
coming from one Partner Authority with the remainder, to make the meeting
at least quorate, from the other Partner Authority. If there is a quorum of
members present but neither the chair nor the vice-chair is present, the
members present shall designate one member to preside as chair for that
meeting.

19.

Subject to the provisions of any enactment, all questions coming or arising
before the Joint Committee shall be decided by a majority of the Partner
Authority members of the Joint Committee immediately present and voting
thereon. Subject to the provisions of any enactment, in the case of an
equality of votes the chairperson shall have a second or casting vote but,
before exercising this, the chairperson shall consider whether it is
appropriate to defer the matter to the next meeting of the Joint Committee.

20.

Any member of the Joint Committee may request the Joint Committee to
record the votes of individual members of the Joint Committee on a matter
for decision.

21.

A member, when speaking, shall address the chairperson. If two or more
members wish to speak, the chairperson shall call on one to speak. While a
member is speaking all other members shall remain silent.

22.

A member shall direct his/her speech to the question under discussion or to
a personal explanation or to a point of order.

23.

Only one amendment to a proposal may be moved and discussed at a time
and no further amendment shall be moved until the amendment under
discussion has been disposed of, providing the chairperson may permit two
or more amendments to be discussed (but not voted on) together if
circumstances suggest that this course would facilitate the proper conduct of
the Joint Committee’s business.

24.

If an amendment is lost, other amendments may be moved on the original
motion. If an amendment is carried, the motion, as amended, shall take the
place of the original motion and shall become the motion upon which any
further amendment may be moved.

25.

The order of business shall be indicated in the agenda for the meeting.

26.

When a motion is under debate by the Joint Committee no other motion shall
be moved except the following:

26.1

to amend the motion;

26.2

to adjourn the meeting;

26.3

to adjourn the debate;

26.4

to proceed to the next business;

26.5

that the question may now be put;

26.6

that a member shall not be further heard;

Page3 90

26.7

by the chairperson, that a member leave the meeting;

26.8

a motion under section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 to
exclude the public; or

26.9

to postpone consideration on an item.

27.

A member may move without comment at the conclusion of a speech of
another member, “That the Committee proceed to the next business”, “That
the question may now be put”, “That the debate is now adjourned”, or “That
the Committee now adjourn”, on the seconding of which the chair shall
proceed as follows:

27.1

on a motion to proceed to next business: unless in his/her opinion the matter
before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed to put to the vote, the
motion to proceed to next business;

27.2

on a motion that the question may now be put: unless in his/her opinion the
matter before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed he/she shall first
put to the vote the motion that the question may now be put; or

27.3

on a motion to adjourn the debate or meeting: if in his/her opinion the matter
before the meeting has not been sufficiently discussed and cannot
reasonably be sufficiently discussed on that occasion put the adjournment
motion to the vote.
The ruling of the chair shall not be open for discussion.

28.

Any member of the Partner Authorities who is not a member of the Joint
Committee is entitled to attend the Joint Committee and make
representations in respect of Non-Restricted and Restricted Items by leave
of the chairperson (but shall not be entitled to vote or take part in the
consideration or discussion of any business), and comments will be recorded
only on the direction of the chairperson.

29.

The following elected representatives are entitled to attend the Joint
Committee and make representations in respect of Non-Restricted Items to
the Joint Committee by leave of the chairperson (but shall not be entitled to
vote or take part in the consideration or discussion of any business) and
comments will be recorded only on the direction of the chairperson:

29.1

Members of parish councils within the districts of the Partner Authorities;

29.2

Members of Devon County Council; and

29.3

Members of Parliament for the residents of the Partner Authorities.

30.

Meetings of the Joint Committee will be open to the public except to the
extent that they are excluded under paragraph 32.

31.

Members of the public wishing to address the Joint Committee (or a subcommittee of the Joint Committee) on Non-Restricted Items contained within
the agenda for the meeting shall be given the opportunity to do so subject to:

31.1

the opportunity being extended to one or more person(s) at the discretion of
the chairperson to speak in support of each agenda item and one or more

Page
4 91

person(s) at the discretion of the chairperson to speak against each agenda
item when called to do so by the chairperson;
31.2

an indication of the desire to speak on the agenda item being made by the
person in writing not less than two days before the scheduled Committee
Meeting. The
written request must be sent by e-mail to
memberservices@northdevon.gov.uk or such other address as provided by
the Lead Authority for governance and secretarial support;

31.3

each person addressing the Joint Committee or sub-committee of the Joint
Committee being limited to three minutes’ speech;

31.4

in the event of the person having registered to speak on an agenda item not
wishing to take up their right to speak on the agenda item because it was
deferred, that person will automatically be given the right to speak on the
agenda item at the next meeting of the Joint Committee or sub-committee of
the Joint Committee; and

31.5

the chairperson of the meeting having discretion to rule that a person
wishing to address the meeting shall not be heard if, in the chairperson’s
view, that issue or the organisation or the person wishing to make the
representation on that issue has received an adequate hearing.

32.

In accordance with the requirements of the 1972 Act, the public or press
must be excluded from a meeting by resolution of the Joint Committee during
an item of business if that item includes:

32.1

confidential information, as defined in section 100A(3) of the 1972 Act; or

32.2

exempt information, as defined in section 100I of the 1972 Act.

33.

The Joint Committee may delegate a function to an officer.

34.

The Joint Committee may appoint such task teams or working groups as
they consider appropriate in order to consider and report to the Joint
Committee on specific matters.

35.

Any contractual arrangements that relate to an Agreed Function will be
undertaken by one of the Partner Authorities and that Partner Authority shall
apply its own financial regulations and contract procedure rules to such an
arrangement. The Partnership Leader of the Partner Authority that is
incurring the expenditure will normally determine which of the Partner
Authority’s financial regulations and contract procedure rules will apply and,
in the event of any dispute or uncertainty, the matter should be referred to
the Chief Executives for determination.

36.

The Lead Authority responsible for governance and secretarial Support
Services shall provide administrative support services to the Joint Committee
on such terms as may be agreed from time to time between the Partner
Authorities. The Partner Authorities shall make available committee officers
to provide administrative services at the meetings of the Joint Committee as
appropriate and in consideration of where the meetings are being held.

Page5 92

37.

The Lead Authority for legal Support Services shall provide the Joint
Committee with legal advice and support on such terms as may be agreed
from time to time between the Partner Authorities.

38.

The Lead Authority for financial Support Services shall provide the Joint
Committee with financial advice and support on such terms as may be
agreed from time to time between the Partner Authorities.

Page
6 93

SCHEDULE 2
Agreed Functions
1.

The Joint Committee shall be responsible for and shall have delegated to it
the following functions of the Partner Authorities:

1.1

The preparation, review and/or approval of
1.1.1

Development Plan Documents;

1.1.2

Supplementary Planning Documents;

1.1.3

Joint documents that supplement/complement the Development Plan
Documents (Namely, Local Development Schemes, Statements of
Community Involvement, Authority Monitoring Reports and
Infrastructure Funding Statements);

1.1.4

The outcomes from policy performance monitoring and the need to
undertake any resultant actions, on such matters as the
maintenance of housing delivery rates and a joint five year land
supply to required levels;

1.1.5

Proposals for delivery of key infrastructure (e.g. flood defences, link
road improvements, health infrastructure) where there are clear
cross boundary implications; and

1.1.6

Responses to consultations from the government, other authorities,
external agencies and other bodies, including transportation related
consultations, where they would have a significant impact on the
delivery of the Local Plan or on the Districts’ environment.

1.2

The consideration and noting of associated evidence documents (for
example, Sustainability Appraisals and Habitat Regulations Assessments)

1.3

Such other functions related to the above listed Agreed Functions which it is
agreed between the Partner Authorities should be included as an Agreed
Function.

2.

The delegated powers referred to above in paragraph 1.1 shall be limited to
the preparation of agreed Development Plan Documents but shall not
include the final adoption of such Development Plan Documents which shall
be reserved to the respective Partner Authorities and referred back as a
recommendation by the Joint Committee for a decision as to adoption by the
respective Partner Authorities. The Joint Committee shall take account any
reservations or objections subsequently received from either Partner
Authority before referring the Development Plan Documents back for
adoption.

3.

The Joint Committee shall act in the manner laid down in the Terms of
Reference of the Joint Committee as set out in 0.

4.

The Joint Committee shall act as the ultimate arbiter in the case of
unresolved disputes between the Partner Authorities unless such matters are
referred to arbitration pursuant to clause Error! Reference source not
found..

Page7 94

5.

It has been agreed that the Agreed Functions as referred to in paragraph 1
should be delivered in the manner laid down in this Agreement.

Page
8 95

SCHEDULE 3
Support Services
1.

To enable the Partnership to function effectively the Joint Committee shall
require the following key Support Services from the Partner Authorities:

1.1

legal support and advice; and

1.2

governance and secretarial support.

2.

Each Support Service shall, from the Commencement Date, be provided by
the following identified Lead Authority, which may be varied during the term
of this Agreement by written agreement between the Partner Authorities:
Support Service

Lead Authority

Legal support and advice

TDC

Governance and secretarial support

NDDC

Page9 96

SCHEDULE 4
Financial Arrangements
1.

Joint Committee costs
Annual costs relating to the Joint Committee shall be shared in equal
proportions between the Partner Authorities, this shall include (but shall not
be limited to):

1.1

administrative costs of the Joint Committee;

1.2

costs of room booking, refreshments and any Joint Committee events (e.g.
training).

1.3

any other incidental expenses of the Joint Committee or Joint Committee
members.

Page
10 97

TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR BIDEFORD HARBOUR BOARD WORKING GROUP
Purposes
To receive reports from the Operational Services Manager on issues affecting the
management of Bideford Harbour and to consider such issues and make recommendations
as appropriate to the Community and Resources Committee.
To establish and maintain strong links with Harbour users, the community and other
stakeholders.
To uphold the principles of governance set out in the Department for Transports “Modern
Ports – a UK Policy” and “Opportunities for Ports in Local Authority Ownership” and comply
with the local and national Harbour Acts and other relevant legislation.
To participate in reviews of Council policy so far as it affects Bideford Harbour.
Membership
The working group shall consist of:5 Members of Torridge District Council including the Chair of the Community and Resources
Committee
3 Members who shall not be Members of Torridge District Council but whom, because of
particular expertise or interest, the Council considers should be members of the Working
Group.
Initial appointments of independent members shall be for a period of 6 months and may be
extended to four years, subject to review. Subsequent appointment of independent
members shall be for a period of 4 years.
Chairman
The Chair of the Working Group shall be the Chair of the Community and Resources
Committee. The Working Group shall appoint a Vice Chair as part of the business of the first
meeting and from time to time thereafter. If the Chair and Vice-Chairman are not present
at a meeting, the Working Group shall appoint a Chair to act at that meeting from amongst
those present.

Page 98

Meetings
The Working Group shall meet at least once every three months, or at such other times as
may be necessary.
Meetings of the Working Group shall be open for public attendance unless exempt or
potentially exempt information, within the meaning of the Local Government Act 1972
Schedule 12A is likely to be discussed, in which case, Members may vote to exclude the
press and public from that part of the meeting at which such information is being disclosed
or discussed.
Members of the public may speak at meetings of the Working Group only at the absolute
discretion of the Chair.
Voting
All members of the Working Group shall have voting rights and the Chair shall have the
casting vote. All procedures, so far as they are not affected by this document, shall be in
accordance with the Council’s constitution.
Quorum
The quorum for a meeting of the Working Group shall be 3 of whom 2 must be members of
the Council.
Support
The Working Group will be supported by officers from Torridge District Council including the
Harbour Manager and the Operational Services Manager.
Other attendees
The Working Group may invite others to participate in discussions at a meeting where the
Working Group considers it appropriate to do so.

Page 99

STANDARDS COMMITTEE

Terms of Reference, Function and Responsibility
The Council’s Standards Committee shall:1.

Promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the members and co-opted
members of the Council;

2.

Assist Members and co-opted members of the Council to observe the Members’
Code of Conduct;

3.

Advise full Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of Conduct;

4.

Monitor the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct;

5.

Advise, train or arrange training for members and co-opted members on matters
relating to the Members’ Code of Conduct;

6.

Grant dispensations to District Council Members and co-opted Members from
requirements relating to interests set out in the Members’ Code of Conduct;

7.

Deal with any reports relating to complaints from the Monitoring Officer;

8.

Provide the same functions (other than the grant of dispensations) in relation to
parish councils and members of the parish councils as in relation to Torridge
District Council and members of Torridge District Council;

Powers to Impose Sanctions
1. The standards Committee shall have the following powers when dealing with and
deciding upon a complaint:a)
b)
c)
d)

To issue a censure to a Councillor,
To request that a Councillor issue a written apology
To recommend that a Councillor undergo appropriate training,
To recommend to the relevant Group Leader and to Full Council and/or a
Parish/Town Council that other action be taken against a Councillor

e) Publication of the findings of the Standards Committee including media
statements or press releases, publication on the Council’s website and inclusion
of details in the Members Bulletin;
f) Report the findings of the Standards Committee to full Council;
g) Recommend to the Councillor’s group leader (or in the case of ungrouped
Councillors, recommend directly to full Council) that he/she be removed from
any or all committees or sub-committees of the Council;
h) Recommend to full Council that the Councillor be removed from their role as
Lead Member if applicable;
i) Recommend to full Council that the Councillor be removed from all outside
bodies to which they have been appointed or nominated by full Council;
j) Recommend to full Council the withdrawal of certain facilities provided to the
Councillor by the Council as may be reasonable in the circumstances;

Page 100

k) Recommend to full Council that the Councillor be excluded from the Council’s
offices or other premises, with the exception of meeting rooms as necessary for
attending full Council, committee and sub-committee meetings or put in place
such restrictions on access to staff as may be reasonable in the circumstances;
l) Recommend to full Council the suspension, withdrawal or reduction of a
Councillor’s Voluntary Grant Budget for a period of time following the finding of
breach.
Composition
1.

The Council’s Standards Committee shall be made up of up to Nine (9) members.

2.

Membership of the Council’s Standards Committee shall be made up as follows:a) Seven (7) District Councillors; and
b) Two (2) Town/Parish Representatives:
of whom the quorum shall be Five (5).

3.

The Council shall appoint up to three (3) Independent Persons to assist the
Standards Committee, the Monitoring Officer, and individual Councillors in
accordance with the Localism Act 2011.

4

The functions of the Council’s Standards Committee may be discharged by subcommittees appointed by the Standards Committee.

5.

The Town/Parish representatives shall not be entitled to vote at Standards
Committee meetings but shall be able to take part in the discussions.

6.

The Independent Persons will be invited to attend meetings of the Standards Committee
and take part in the discussions, but shall not be entitled to vote

Page 101

Page 102

Agenda Item 13
Agenda Item
REPORT OF

Finance Manager and Section 151 Officer

To:

Full Council

Subject:

Opt into the National Scheme for Auditor Appointments managed by PSAA
as the “Appointing Person”

Date:

31st January 2022

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
This report set out proposals for appointing the external auditor to audit the Authority‟s annual
statement of accounts for a five year period from 2023/24.
1.

Background

The current auditor appointment arrangements cover the period up to and including the audit of the
2022/23 accounts. The Council opted into the „appointing person‟ national auditor appointment
arrangements established by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) for the period covering the
accounts for 2018/19 to 2022/23.
PSAA is now undertaking a procurement for the next appointing period, covering audits for 2023/24 to
2027/28. During Autumn 2021 all local government bodies need to make important decisions about
their external audit arrangements from 2023/24. Local Authorities have options to arrange their own
procurement and make the appointment themselves or in conjunction with other bodies, or they can
join and take advantage of the national collective scheme administered by PSAA.
If the Council wishes to take advantage of the national auditor appointment arrangements, it is required
under the local audit regulations to make the decision at full Council. The opt-in period starts on 22
September 2021 and closes on 11 March 2022. To opt into the national scheme from 2023/24, the

Council needs to return completed opt-in documents to PSAA by 11 March 2022.
2.

Report

Procurement of External Audit for the period 2023/24 to 2027/28
Under the Local Government Audit & Accountability Act 2014 (“the Act”), the council is required to
appoint an auditor to audit its accounts for each financial year. The council has three options;


To appoint its own auditor, which requires it to follow the procedure set out in the Act.



To act jointly with other authorities to procure an auditor following the procedures in the Act.



To opt in to the national auditor appointment scheme administered by a body designated by the
Secretary of State as the „appointing person‟. The body currently designated for this role is
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA).

In order to opt in to the national scheme, a council must make a decision at a meeting of the Full
Council.

Page 103

The Appointed Auditor
The auditor appointed at the end of the procurement process will undertake the statutory audit of
accounts and Best Value assessment of the council in each financial year, in accordance with all
relevant codes of practice and guidance. The appointed auditor is also responsible for investigating
questions raised by electors and has powers and responsibilities in relation to Public Interest
Reports and statutory recommendations.
The auditor must act independently of the council and the main purpose of the procurement
legislation is to ensure that the appointed auditor is sufficiently qualified and independent.
The auditor must be registered to undertake local audits by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC)
and employ authorised Key Audit Partners to oversee the work. As the report below sets out there is
a currently a shortage of registered firms and Key Audit Partners.
Auditors are regulated by the FRC, which will be replaced by a new body with wider powers, the
Audit, Reporting and Governance Authority (ARGA) during the course of the next audit contract.
Councils therefore have very limited influence over the nature of the audit services they are
procuring, the nature and quality of which are determined or overseen by third parties.
Appointment by the Council itself or jointly
The Council may elect to appoint its own external auditor under the Act, which would require the
council to;


Establish an independent auditor panel to make a stand-alone appointment. The auditor panel
would need to be set up by the Council itself, and the members of the panel must be wholly or a
majority of independent members as defined by the Act. Independent members for this purpose
are independent appointees, excluding current and former elected members (or officers) and
their close families and friends. This means that elected members will not have a majority input
to assessing bids and choosing to which audit firm to award a contract for the Councils external
audit.



Manage the contract for its duration, overseen by the Auditor Panel.

Alternatively, the Act enables the Council to join with other authorities to establish a joint auditor
panel. Again, this will need to be constituted of wholly or a majority of independent appointees.
Further legal advice would be required on the exact constitution of such a panel having regard to
the obligations of each Council under the Act and the Council would need to liaise with other local
authorities to assess the appetite for such an arrangement. No such appetite has been established
within the Devon Local Authorities.
The national auditor appointment scheme
PSAA is specified as the „appointing person‟ for principal local government under the provisions of
the Act and the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015. PSAA let five-year audit services
contracts in 2017 for the first appointing period, covering audits of the accounts from 2018/19 to
2022/23. It is now undertaking the work needed to invite eligible bodies to opt in for the next
appointing period, from the 2023/24 audit onwards, and to complete a procurement for audit

Page 104

services. PSAA is a not-for-profit organisation whose costs are around 4% of the scheme with any
surplus distributed back to scheme members.
In summary the national opt-in scheme provides the following:


the appointment of a suitably qualified audit firm to conduct audits for each of the five financial
years commencing 1 April 2023;



appointing the same auditor to other opted-in bodies that are involved in formal collaboration or
joint working initiatives to the extent this is possible with other constraints;



managing the procurement process to ensure both quality and price criteria are satisfied.



ensuring suitable independence of the auditors from the bodies they audit and managing any
potential conflicts as they arise during the appointment period;



minimising the scheme management costs and returning any surpluses to scheme members;



consulting with authorities on auditor appointments, giving the Council the opportunity to
influence which auditor is appointed;



consulting with authorities on the scale of audit fees and ensuring these reflect scale,
complexity, and audit risk; and



ongoing contract and performance management of the contracts once these have been let.

Pressures in the current local audit market and delays in issuing opinions
Much has changed in the local audit market since audit contracts were last awarded in 2017. At that
time the audit market was relatively stable, there had been few changes in audit requirements, and
local audit fees had been reducing over a long period. 98% of those bodies eligible opted into the
national scheme and attracted very competitive bids from audit firms. The resulting audit contracts
took effect from 1 April 2018.
During 2018 a series of financial crises and failures in the private sector year led to questioning
about the role of auditors and the focus and value of their work. Four independent reviews were
commissioned by Government: Sir John Kingman‟s review of the Financial Reporting Council
(FRC), the audit regulator; the Competition and Markets Authority review of the audit market; Sir
Donald Brydon‟s review of the quality and effectiveness of audit; and Sir Tony Redmond‟s review of
local authority financial reporting and external audit. The recommendations are now under
consideration by Government, with the clear implication that significant reforms will follow. A new
audit regulator (ARGA) is to be established, and arrangements for system leadership in local audit
are to be introduced. Further change will follow as other recommendations are implemented.
The Kingman review has led to an urgent drive for the FRC to deliver rapid, measurable
improvements in audit quality. This has created a major pressure for audit firms to ensure full
compliance with regulatory requirements and expectations in every audit they undertake. By the
time firms were conducting 2018/19 local audits during 2019, the measures they were putting in
place to respond to a more focused regulator were clearly visible. To deliver the necessary
improvements in audit quality, firms were requiring their audit teams to undertake additional work to
gain deeper levels of assurance. However, additional work requires more time, posing a threat to
the firms‟ ability to complete all their audits by the target date for publication of audited accounts.
Delayed opinions are not the only consequence of the FRC‟s drive to improve audit quality.

Page 105

Additional audit work must also be paid for. As a result, many more fee variation claims have been
needed than in prior years.
This situation has been accentuated by growing auditor recruitment and retention challenges. These
challenges have increased in subsequent audit years, with Covid-19 creating further significant
pressure for finance and audit teams.
None of these problems is unique to local government audit. Similar challenges have played out in
other sectors, where increased fees and disappointing responses to tender invitations have been
experienced during the past two years.

Page 106

The invitation
PSAA is now inviting the Councils to opt in for the second appointing period, for 2023/24 to 2027/28,
along with all other eligible authorities. Based on the level of opt-ins it will enter into contracts with
appropriately qualified audit firms and appoint a suitable firm to be the Council‟s auditor.
The next audit procurement
The prices submitted by bidders through the procurement will be the key determinant of the value of
audit fees paid by opted-in bodies. PSAA will:


seek to encourage realistic fee levels and to benefit from the economies of scale associated with
procuring on behalf of a significant number of bodies;



continue to pool scheme costs and charge fees to opted-in bodies in accordance with the
published fee scale as amended following consultations with scheme members and other
interested parties (pooling means that everyone within the scheme will benefit from the prices
secured via a competitive procurement process – a key tenet of the national collective scheme);



PSAA will seek to encourage market sustainability in its procurement. Firms will be able to bid
for a variety of differently sized contracts so that they can match their available resources and
risk appetite to the contract for which they bid. They will be required to meet appropriate quality
standards and to reflect realistic market prices in their tenders, informed by the scale fees and
the supporting information provided about each audit. Where regulatory changes are in train
which affect the amount of audit work suppliers must undertake, firms will be informed as to
which developments should be priced into their bids.



The scope of a local audit is fixed. It is determined by the Code of Audit Practice (currently
published by the National Audit Office)1, the format of the financial statements (specified by
CIPFA/LASAAC) and the application of auditing standards regulated by the FRC. These factors
apply to all local audits irrespective of whether an eligible body decides to opt into PSAA‟s
national scheme or chooses to make its own separate arrangements. The requirements are
mandatory; they shape the work auditors undertake and have a bearing on the actual fees
required.



There are currently nine audit providers eligible to audit local authorities and other relevant
bodies under local audit legislation. This means that a local procurement exercise would seek
tenders from the same firms as the national procurement exercise, subject to the need to
manage any local independence issues. Local firms cannot be invited to bid. Local
procurements must deliver the same audit scope and requirements as a national procurement,
reflecting the auditor‟s statutory responsibilities.

Assessment of options


If the Council did not opt in there would be a need to establish an independent auditor panel
to make a stand-alone appointment. The auditor panel would need to be set up by the

Page 107

Council itself, and the members of the panel must be wholly or a majority of independent
members as defined by the Act. Independent members for this purpose are independent
appointees, excluding current and former elected members (or officers) and their close
families and friends. This means that elected members will not have a majority input to
assessing bids and choosing to which audit firm to award a contract for the Council‟s
external audit.


Alternatively, the Act enables the Council to join with other authorities to establish a joint
auditor panel. Again, this will need to be constituted of wholly or a majority of independent
appointees. Further legal advice would be required on the exact constitution of such a panel
having regard to the obligations of each Council under the Act and the Council would need
to liaise with other local authorities to assess the appetite for such an arrangement.



These would be more resource-intensive processes to implement for the council, and
without the bulk buying power of the sector-led procurement would be likely to result in a
more costly service. It would also be more difficult to manage quality and independence
requirements through a local appointment process. The council is unable to influence the
scope of the audit and the regulatory regime inhibits the council‟s ability to affect quality.



The Council and its auditor panel would need to maintain ongoing oversight of the contract.
Local contract management cannot, however, influence the scope or delivery of an audit.



The national offer provides the appointment of an independent auditor with limited
administrative cost to the council. By joining the scheme, the council would be acting with
other councils to optimise the opportunity to influence the market that a national procurement
provides.

The recommended approach is therefore to opt in to the national auditor appointment scheme.
3.

IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications


Section 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires a relevant
Council/Authority to appoint a local auditor to audit its accounts for a financial year not later
than 31 December in the preceding year.



Section 8 governs the procedure for appointment including that the Council/Authority must
consult and take account of the advice of its auditor panel on the selection and appointment
of a local auditor. Section 8 provides that where a relevant Council/Authority is a local
council/authority operating executive arrangements, the function of appointing a local auditor
to audit its accounts is not the responsibility of an executive of the Council/Authority under
those arrangements.



Section 12 makes provision for the failure to appoint a local auditor. The Council/Authority
must immediately inform the Secretary of State, who may direct the Council/Authority to
appoint the auditor named in the direction or appoint a local auditor on behalf of the
Council/Authority.

Page 108



Section 17 gives the Secretary of State the power to make regulations in relation to an
„appointing person‟ specified by the Secretary of State. This power has been exercised in the
Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 (SI 192) and this gives the Secretary of
State the ability to enable a sector-led body to become the appointing person. In July 2016
the Secretary of State specified PSAA as the appointing person.
Financial Implications
As detailed within the report
Human Resources Implications
Nothing specific from this report.
Sustainability Implications
n/a
Equality/Diversity
Nothing specific from this report.
Risk Management
The report highlights a number of areas where risks have been considered and actions
adopted to mitigate financial risk.
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
This is associated with Torridge‟s Risk Strategy.

Page 109

Leader Member Views
Councillor Claire Hodson – 21st September 2021
As the reports details the Council lacks the capacity and expertise to tender for audit
services in isolation and it is very unlikely given the limited numbers of approved audit firms
and the current state of the audit market that it would secure a better outcome than opting
into the PSAA procurement process. There is no appetite across Devon to carry out a joint
procurement exercise for audit services, which would be the only other practical option.
4.

CONCLUSIONS
The opt in to the PSAA procurement process is the only viable option available to the
Council.

5.

RECOMMENDATIONS
That Full Council approve the recommendation from Audit & Governance of the 18th January
2022 that Torridge opts into the PSAA procurement of external audit services.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Consultations:

Date of Consultation –21st September 2021
Officers Consulted –
Chief Executive
Head of Communities
Monitoring Officer

Contact Officer:

David Heyes– Finance Manager & Section 151 Officer

Background Papers:

Page 110

Agenda Item 14
REPORT OF

Head of Communities and Place

To:

Full Council

Subject:

Appledore Fish Dock Ice Machine

Date:

31st Jan 2022

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
To seek approval to add the acquisition and installation of a replacement ice machine for Appledore
Fish dock to the 21/22 capital programme.

1.

INTRODUCTION
The ice machine in the Fish Dock at Appledore needs to be replaced. Not only is highly
inefficient but it also malfunctions frequently, causing significant repair costs and reputational
damage among the users of the site. Furthermore, users are unhappy that it does not
produce flake ice which is the best for the protection of their product.
As part of the MMO Fisheries and Seafood scheme Torridge District Council has been
offered grant assistance of 66.6% of project costs, with the local authority required to
contribute 33.4%.

2.

REPORT
Appledore Fish Dock has been presented with a moment of huge opportunity. The pandemic
has created a refreshed connection to quality produce, as demonstrated by the recent
success of the recently opened Devon and Cornwall wet fish shop within the Fish Dock.
However, there are currently issues with potential customers both locally and internationally
choosing not to purchase from the Appledore Fish Dock as a result of the ice from the
current ice machine melting into one solid block over the course of time. The massed ice
damages the look and quality of the fish, and also fails to fully encase the entire fish, causing
a shortening of shelf life.
An improved ice machine is central to the future sustainability of the Appledore Fish Dock,
securing employment at the Fish Dock and also strengthening the wellbeing and
competitiveness of local vessels.
The proposed new scaled ice will maintain and protect the quality of the fish- maximizing the
potential competitiveness of businesses within the Fish Dock by ensuring that the end
purchaser receives the highest quality end product. Where businesses then choose to
source ice from other locations there is not only a loss of income but also significant carbon
implications as a result of the additional travel miles
The Fish Dock users do not currently utilize the full capacity of the existing 12 year old
machine, creating significant inefficiencies. The proposed Geneglace machine has an
energy consumption of 3.54 kW per hour, a substantial saving compared to the current
Ziegra machine which uses 17.6kW per hour.

Page 111

The nature of the construction of the site has also provoked significant issues when
developing proposals for a new ice machine. Officers have consulted widely and
investigated the most suitable replacement machine- the Geneglace F30, which is felt would
integrate more effectively and require less significant alterations to be made in order to
house it efficiently.

3.

IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications
In accepting the grant from the MMO the council will be obliged to meet the standard grant
conditions as set out in the MMO offer letter.
Financial Implications
The total costs of replacing the ice machine as recommended is £33,000. This will be
funded by a combination of grant funding from the MMO (£22,000) and Torridge District
Council (£11,000 to come from the General Capital Fund).
Human Resources Implications
None
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
The proposed ice machine is more efficient that the machine that it relaces thus there is a
beneficial environmental impact associated with this proposal.
Equality/Diversity
N/A
Risk Management
Any additional costs associated with the installation of the new machine will be the
responsibility of the Council.
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
The proposal is in compliance with the Council’s Strategic Plan, Carbon Plan and the last
version of the Northern Devon Economic Strategy.
Ward Member and Lead Member Views
Cllr Hicks, Lead Member for Economy. 21/01/22
This proposal is a good one in that it will provide the fish dock with a more fit for purpose and
efficient ice machine at reduced cost to the council. It will also reduce the costs of running
the fish dock and help the fish dock users to provide a better product.

Page 112

4.

CONCLUSIONS

The current ice is also considered of an inappropriate nature by the site users. The proposed
machine would offer flake ice which would not melt into a solid block as the current ice does.
The current provision creates issues with the massed ice not fully protecting the entire
produce, damaging some of the product by leaving it exposed to the air. This ice type also
limits the attractiveness of the Fish Dock to potential users, in particular fishing vessels
looking to stock up on ice.
The proposed ice machine offers significant benefits;
Spend to save- reducing the ongoing maintenance and disruption that is caused
currently by the 12 year old ice machine. As an example, in August 2020 £6741.48 was
spent on replacement parts for the ice machine. Over £7000 has been spent on ice machine
maintenance and replacement parts again within the last 12 months to December 2021.
Reduces reputational damage
Will act to strengthen the appeal of the Fish Dock both to tenants and fishing vessels
given the improved nature of the flake ice to protect and present produce.
Carbon reduction as a result of machine efficiency.
An alternative ice machine was initially proposed, the Scotsman MAR 306. However, the
complex nature of engineering required for installation would have come with significant
additional installation costs and a considerable risk that the machine would not integrate with
the current infrastructure, prompting the need for additional spend.
5.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that:
The sum of £33,000 is added to the capital programme (21/22) for the replacement ice
machine at Appledore Fish Dock.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Consultations: Date of Consultation – 21/1/22
Officers Consulted – Chief Executive, Head of Legal and Governance, Head of Finance
(s151)
Contact Officer:

Head of Communities and Place

Background Papers:

Page 113

Agenda Item 15
Agenda Item
REPORT OF

Leader of the Council and HR & Communications Manager

To:

Full Council

Subject:

Pay Policy requirements of the Localism Act

Date:

January 2022

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
1.
2.

1.

This report invites Members to agree to a Pay Policy statement, in accordance with the requirements
of the Localism Act
The report does not ask Members to agree to any changes to the Pay Policy or the remuneration of
senior officers.

INTRODUCTION
Section 38 (1) of the Localism Act 2011 (the Act) requires English and Welsh local authorities to
produce a statutory pay policy statement for each financial year.
Under the Localism Act a Chief Officer is defined as
The Head of the Councils paid service designated under section 4( 1) of the Local Government
and Housing Act 1989
Its monitoring officer designated under section 5 (1) of that Act
A statutory Chief Officer mentioned in Section 2(6) of that Act
A non statutory officer mentioned in 2(7) of that Act
A Deputy chief officer mentioned in section 2(8) of that Act
In Torridge District Council this definition would apply to the following posts: Chief Executive,
Head of Legal & Governance, Head of Communities & Place, Finance Manager & s151 officer.

2.

REPORT
Current Approach to Pay and Reward
The Council reviewed its pay arrangements for Chief Officers as part of the management
restructure in 2020. With the exception of the wider operational management team, all staff are
on grades within a single pay spine, with their terms and conditions reflecting a nationally agreed
package (known as the ‘Green Book’). In general terms, these arrangements are owned and
accepted by colleagues, perhaps as best evidenced by the absence of a ‘grading appeal’ culture. All
grades provide opportunity for progression by annual increments and other than operational staff
most colleagues have opportunity to attain a work-life balance by using ‘flexi-time’.
The Council’s most senior officers are paid on salaries set by the Council with the benefit of
external advice received from South West Councils.
Pay Policy Statement

Page 114

Attached is a draft Pay Policy which, subject to the approval of Full Council , will be published on
the Council’s web-site.
The Pay Policy is a statement of current practice and can be altered by Full Council at any time. In
any event a Pay Policy statement for 2023/24 and so on will in the future have to be specifically
agreed each financial year.
The Act requires that the Pay Policy statement applies specifically to Chief Officers (a term w hich
includes both statutory Chief Officers and non statutory Chief Officers) and it is proposed that at
Torridge this includes those officers whose terms and conditions reflect those determined by the
Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local Authorities and specifically the Chief
Executive, Head of Legal & Governance, Head of Communities & Place and Finance Manager &
s151 officer.
The Pay Policy and the Appendix to that policy (also attached) meets the requirements of the Act
and has regard to both guidance and recommended practice. In particular, regard has been paid to
the Hutton Report (on public sector pay) which was published in 2011. Hutton concluded that the
most appropriate metric for calculating pay dispersion is the multiple of Chief Executive to median
earnings. He also concluded that tracking this multiple will ensure public service organisations are
accountable for the relationship between the pay of their executives and the wider workforce. The
current multiples are set out in the appendix to the Pay Policy.
The draft Pay Policy Statement indicates that the Council will track this multiple annually and will
also publish the following information (included as an Annex to the Policy):


the level and elements of remuneration for each senior officer;



the remuneration of the lowest paid employee;



the relationship between the remuneration of the Council’s senior officers and other
officers;



other specific aspects of senior officer remuneration, and



the multiple of Chief Executive to the average or mean earnings, which is another metric
for pay dispersion referred to in guidance.

Future Developments
With regard to any future Management changes Members can be assured that by agreeing to this
Policy now, it will not preclude the development of revised arrangements for whatever senior posts
may exist in the future.

3.

IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications
Publication of a Pay Policy is a requirement of the Localism Act
Financial Implications
There are no immediate financial implications, other than the cost of any cost of living pay award.
The pay award for 2021/22 has yet to be agreed but an increase of 1.75% has been factored in to
the budget. An increase of 2% has been factored into the 2022/23 budget

Page 115

Human Resources Implications
Determining pay and reward arrangements has the potential to fundamentally alter the
employment relationship and any changes need to be handled with care.
Sustainability Implications
N/A
Equality/Diversity
Any changes to pay and reward arrangements must be ‘equality proofed’
Risk Management
Not having an updated published Pay Policy in place would represent an unacceptable risk to the
Council’s reputation.
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
Section 38 (1) of the Localism Act 2011 (the Act) requires English and Welsh local authorities to
produce a statutory pay policy statement for each financial year
Lead Member Views- Councillor James
It is important that this council continues its intention to be fully open and transparent in all
aspects, by complying with this legislation it is further step in that aim
4.

CONCLUSIONS
The reward arrangements for senior officers are transparent and reflect external advice.

5.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Council should approve the Pay Policy

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Consultations:

Councillor James, Leader

Contact Officer:

Sarah Ayres
HR & Communications Manager

Page 116

Torridge District Council
Pay Policy Statement – as at March 2022
Purpose and Scope of the Policy
1.

Section 38 (1) of the Localism Act 2011 requires English and Welsh local authorities to produce a statutory pay policy
statement for 2012/13 and for each financial year after that.

2.

In the context of managing scarce public resources, the Council seeks to balance the need to set pay levels that are
adequate to secure and retain high-quality employees dedicated to the service of the public, with a need to ensure
that pay is not unnecessarily generous or otherwise excessive. The Council also recognises that individuals have
contractual and other rights that cannot be altered unilaterally by the Council.

3.

Over recent years the Council has modernised its pay and reward arrangements through the implementation of
single status and by setting the pay of its most senior officers with the benefit of external advice. In addition, the pay
of senior officers has been published on the Councils web site.

4.

This pay policy statement applies to those officers whose terms and conditions reflect those determined by the Joint
Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local Authorities. For the purposes of this policy the Council’s Chief
Officers are the:





5.

Chief Executive
Head of Legal and Governance
Head of Communities and Place
Finance Manager & s151 officer

The Hutton Report (on public sector pay, published in 2011) outlined that the most appropriate metric for pay
dispersion is the multiple of Chief Executive to median earnings. It suggests that tracking this multiple will ens ure
public service organisations are accountable for the relationship between the pay of their executives and the wider
workforce. Through this pay policy sta tement, the Council will track this multipl e annually and will also publish the
following information (please see the Appendix):


The level and elements of remuneration for each of the posts identified in paragraph 4 above;



Other specific aspects of remuneration associated with these posts.



The remuneration of the lowest paid employees;



The multiple of Chief Executive Service salary to median



The multiple of Chief Executive salary to the average or mean earnings, which is another metric for pay
dispersion.

Specific Policy Aspects
6.

7.

When setting or revising salaries for these posts:


The Council will make comparisons with similar organisations , with an aim to paying at or around the median
comparable salary level.



The Council will take independent pay advice from South West Councils.



The Council will have due regard to balance the need to ensure value for money with the need for the Council
to recruit and retain high quality senior officers in the context of national, regional and local labour markets and
the particular circumstances or challenges faced at that time. This may include any market supplement.

Consistent with the relevant national terms and conditions, Chief Officers are required to devote their whole time
service to the work of the Council (which may for this purpose also include other organisations where there is
responsibility for such activities) and cannot engage in business or take up other paid employment without the

Page 117

express permission of the Council. In addition, and although these officers are employed for a notional 37 hours per
week, they are expected to work such additional hours as may be reasonably required, without additional
recompense or time off in lieu.
8.

Any termination payments to Chief Officers on ceasing office will, in the event of redundancy, comply with the
Council’s policy for managing change. Any other payments on termination of employment will accord with the
arrangements set out in the Council’s constitution and scheme of delegation.

9.

Additional payments are made by Central Government to officers carrying out additional duties at elections. These
payments are not within the scope of this policy.

Monitoring
10. Through this policy the pay multiple of the Chief Executive will be monitored annually. Should the multiplier between
the annual salary paid to a ful l time employee (excluding any apprentices) on the lowest spinal column point and the
annual salary paid to the Chief Executive be greater than 10, this will be reported by the Leader of the Council to Full
Council for consideration.
11. Annual monitoring of this policy will take place in relation to each forthcoming financial year. As at 31 March 2022
the pay multiple will be 6.1.
Outcomes
12. In determining this policy the Council will ensure that the process for setting pay at a senior level is transparent. This
policy will be reviewed annually to track the relationship of Chief Officer pay with the rest of the workforce. Other
reviews may take place as determined appropriate from time to time.
Policy/Strategy Consultation
13. This policy has been agreed by Full Council.
Equality Impact Considerations
14. The principles of equal pay are integral to this policy. The Council ensures equal pay through a transparent job
evaluation process for the majority of posts and by having rega rd to external advice when setting the pay of its most
senior officers, as identified in this policy.

Page 118

Appendix

The levels and elements of remuneration for each Chief Officer are (2021 pay award pending):
Post Title

Remuneration

Chief Executive

108,915

Head of Legal & Governance

71,400

Head of Communities and Place

71,400

Finance Manager & s151 officer

61,200

The full time rate of pay (2021 pay award pending) for the lowest paid employee is as follows (not including
apprentices):
Post Title

Remuneration

Cleaner

17,842

The multiplier of the remuneration of the Chief Executive and other officers based upon taxable earnings:
Post Title
Annual Median Pay of all employees, if they were employed full time

22,183

Pay multiple of Chief executive to Median salary

4.9

Pay multiple of Chief Executive to lowest paid employee, if they were
employed full time

6.1

Pay multiple of Chief Executive to mean salary if everyone was employed
full time

4.36

The pay multiple this is calculated by comparing the pay of the Chief Executive with the average (or mean) and median
basic pay levels.

Page 119

Agenda Item 21

Document is Restricted

Page 120

Document is Restricted

Page 123

